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@
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
76,382,109 75,844,493 537,616
12,291,138 1,760,823 3,607,247 3,272,508 622,175 3,028,385
10,891,768 10,632,741 258,309 718
13,330,186 10,671,882 2,658,304
10,574,091 972,618 1,382,894 2,828,035 1,508,624 3,881,920
205,913,553 42,993,900 19,996,303 37,620,046 46,069,522 59,233,782
63,794,151 4,488,104 2,484,621 8,313,096 16,076,948 32,431,382
10,550,483 7,912,863 2,637,620
190,546 190,546
2,645,782 2,645,782
406,563,807 155,277,424 33,562,914 52,034,403 64,277,269 98,575,469 2,836,328
42,808,215 35,932,138 6,657,402 18,873 199,802
30,550,652 27,963,532 2,587,120
8,720,597 7,125,622 1,594,975
12,852,358 1,270,786 1,161,440 2,856,894 2,199,441 5,363,797
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233,814,558 209,805,846 19,503,593 3,490,452 634,750 379,917
17,740,968 6,960,540 7,605,842 3,174,586
15,582,508 11,686,881 3,895,627
1,275,298 914,205 361,093
43,218,653 43,218,653
406,563,807 294,699,010 35,400,157 13,326,759 10,639,835 9,279,393 43,218,653
29,790,338 2,661,071 6,740,535 10,013,062 6,255,392 4,120,278
995,631 202,015 57,217 562,400 173,999
2014 12 31
2015 12 31
55,452,341 51,914,495 3,537,846
15,425,662 2,546,859 3,643,831 6,097,025 572,182 2,565,765
11,134,262 10,475,464 658,798
15,844,377 14,525,319 1,319,058
7,422,828 1,546,297 941,943 1,393,080 1,099,799 2,441,709
194,279,352 44,544,174 18,756,573 27,686,168 44,319,741 58,972,696
67,493,122 2,893,227 4,871,748 15,720,286 9,713,627 34,294,234
6,370,981 4,778,236 1,592,745
177,533 177,533
2,498,254 2,498,254
376,098,712 133,224,071 35,322,542 50,896,559 55,705,349 98,274,404 2,675,787
36,679,504 35,865,125 796,028 18,351
13,875,917 13,875,917
5,484,176 3,540,073 1,944,103
10,953,124 1,455,819 1,154,224 1,124,491 1,622,594 5,595,996
243,184,652 229,147,733 11,634,192 1,400,368 785,906 216,453
14,998,716 2,768,851 502,628 3,192,007 6,745,751 1,789,479
11,442,600 8,581,950 2,860,650
1,516,641 1,037,047 479,594
37,963,382 37,963,382
376,098,712 295,235,468 18,891,825 6,772,264 9,154,251 8,081,522 37,963,382
22,100,064 3,203,400 4,245,812 5,272,667 5,145,619 4,232,566
1,031,799 462,484 73,460 257,110 238,745

®)

47/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)

oOoOooodn

©

@

48/280

2015 12 31
2015 12 31
2015 2014
( ) ) ) )
36,696,915 (16,547,815) 20,149,100 10,020,237
(9,462,720) 9,297,239 (165,481) 212,434
5,141,779 (5.472,359) (330,581) 189,181
(907,613) 857,960 (49,653) (526,251)
(1,041,858) 1,043,328 1,470 (2,750)
(607,351) (5.694,882) (6,302,232) (2,327,591)
1,721,515 (1,701,947) 19,568 40,441
221,468 (205,495) 15,973 470,466
(66,289) 1,742,903 1,676,614 1,361,069
220,175 (432,717) (212,542) 79,843
(6,302) (48,139) (54,441) 375,877
533,025 (234,402) 298,623 266,422
(585,852) 562,711 (23,141) 133,456

GM
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2013 11 11 UAE
2013 12 30
2014 30 UAE
100
25
UAE

UAE
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UAE UAE
25
UAE UAE 25%
25

20%

10%

5t
®
@

GM

@
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GM

100%

100%

50%

25%

25%

GM

GM

25%

%

%

20%

5%

oOoOooodn

60%

25%
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UAE
Q)
2015 12 31 16.74 2014 12 31 16.39
UAE 12
O,
UAE ELAR
2016 31

LCR
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®
2015 12 31 5,847 2016 31
5,792 2015 12 31 2016
31 54
2.76 2.81
2016 31 109.82
UAE
UAE
2016 31 2015 12 31 2014
12 31 3.72 3.64 4.51
20 2016 31 2015 12 31
59.8 64.8 2016
31 2015 12 31 2.70 2.67
2016 31 2015 12 31 2014 12 31
2016 31 2015
12 31 2014 12 31

2016 31 2015 12 31 2014 12 31

2.81 2.76 3.07

3.72 3.64 4.51

109.82 104.76 108.24

0.57 0.44 0.43
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a

166

1CAAP

2015 12 31

UAE

OOOodOodn
2016 31 2015 12 31 2014 12 31
5,846 6,160 6,013
133 224 388
55 1,293 547
134 1,203 1,082
5,792 5,846 6,160
2016 31
155 2016 31
14
GSO
GSO
GSO
2009 11
BIS

RWA
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UAE 12
2015 12 31 16.7
RWA
UAE
RWA UAE
RWA
150
UAE CCF
x CCFx x 12
UAE
RWA UAE
RWA RWA
RWA UAE
RWA 15 RWA
12
I1CAAP
ICAAP
UAE ICAAP

UAE
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UAE CCF

2011
UAE

UAE

BIS

1CAAP 1CAAP
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Ooooodo
UAE
UAE
2015
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
Tier
5,463,885
2,604,861
2,604,861
19,150,395
6,788,805
6,754,750
43,367,557
(253,603)
Tier (15,752)
Tier 43,098,202
Tier 2,991,365
(15,752)
46,073,815
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2015 12 31
2015 12 31
28,437,208
2,447,755
2,145,987
33,030,950
16.74
Tier 15.66
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
oTC
UAE 123,326,698] 16,000,404 139,327,102 14,478,228 178,368,546 72,777,114 265,623,888 404,950,990
GCC UAE 15,899,004 4,047,591 19,946,595 3,114,520 124,131,647 4,923,146 132,169,313 152,115,908
6cC 6,391,744 5,244,918 11,636,662 398,948 3,783,723 3,066,352 7,249,023 18,885, 685}
15,767,657 12,130,287 27,897,944 2,074,032 10,947,377 3,559,870 16,581,279 44,479,223
1,853,875 - 1,853,875 159,716 2,392,216 475,237, 3,027,169 4,881,044
5,061,304 7,721,670 12,782,974 2,990,131 6,035,683 10,148,803 19,174,617 31,957,591
8,022,543 - 8,022,543 E 1,755,289 4,256,166 6,011,455 14,033,998
282,697 - 282,697 | 93,907 E 93,907 376,604
36,091,915 17,284,439 53,376,354 5,955,360 625,109,061 20,950,976 652,015,397 705,391,751
377,754 1,364,842 1,742,596 619,403 2,472,181 26,481 3,118,065 4,860,661
- - . . 562,802 8,259 571,061 571,061
213,075,191 63,794,151 276,869,342 29,790,338 955,652,432 120,192,404 1,105,635,174] 1,382,504,516|
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oOoOooodn
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
0TC
121,016 - 121,016 3,025 - 130,545 133,570 254,586
9,156,948 8,118,444 17,275,394 2,875,229 5,879,689 6,445,020 15,199,938 32,475,332
18,676,518 92,865 18,769,383 4,126,633 9,859,934 18,757,692 32,744,259 51,513,642
7,558,624 1,794,323 9,352,947 2,019,889 4,587,090] 1,338,790 7,945,769 17,298,716
10,275,513 12,523 10,288,036) 3,552,609 4,372,540 14,475,864 22,401,013 32,689,049
37,729,525 - 37,729,525 5,197,494 6,746,765 57,741 12,002, 000j 49,731,525
10,797,566) 57,762 10,855,328 2,149,929 4,821,801 5,682,454 12,654,184 23,509,512
16,467,741 2,898,327 19,366,068 4,422,957 7,121,482 3,640,035 15,184,474 34,550,542
40,740,076 30,425,412 71,165,488 3,841,196 894,578,443 23,096,783 921,516,422 992,681,910
5,768,988 - 5,768,988 888,396] 1,395,813 1,635,078 3,919,287 9,688,275
20,319,828, 20,394,493 40,714,321 84,850 14,787,797, 43,227,801 58,100,448 98,814,769
35,369,070 - 35,369,070 625,984 267,823 107,578 1,001,385 36,370,455
93,778 - 93,778 2,147 1,233,255 1,597,023 2,832,425 2,926,203
213,075,191 63,794,151 276,869,342 29,790,338 955,652,432, 120,192,404 1,105,635,174) 1,382,504,516
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
( )
0TC
50,155,538 4,488,104 54,643,642 1,594,571 183,205, 304} 27,613,437, 212,413,312 267,056,954
19,996, 303] 2,484,621 22,480,924 7,209,111 145,080,523 11,405,529 163,695,163} 186,176,087
83,689,568 24,390,044 108,079,612 15,653,003 454,533,569 52,814,944 523,001,516 631,081,128
59,233,782 32,431,382 91,665,164 5,333,653 172,833,036 28,358,494 206,525,183} 298,190,347
213,075,191 63,794,151 276,869,342 29,790,338 955,652,432 120,192,404 1,105,635,174 1,382,504,516
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
( )
UAE 1,638,713 6,252,077 7,890,790 967,427 1,811,182 2,071,715
GCC UAE 86,098 93,170 179,268 12,446 54,491 321,823
GCC 99,235 196,251 295,486 55,234 121,929 300,212
910 - 910 - - 336,298
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ooooood
- - - - - 19,595
- 289 289 51 - 229,279
- - - - - 55,730
1,680 341,521 343,201 1,507 99,966 686,046
- - - - - 16,552
- - - - - 155
1,826,636 6,883,308 8,709,944 1,036,665 2,087,568 4,037,405
2015 12 31
2015 12 31
- 18 18 13 4 1,163
5,505 - 5,505 - - 190,437
93,051 405,252 498,303 7,587 154,292 407,274
2,668 36,285 38,953 5,281 13,609 98,111
74,204 162,299 236,503 35,013 100,465 203,766
223,386 3,094,017 3,317,403 335,202 536,803 822,887
273,355 369,537 642,892 51,610 233,808 231,782
35,015 133,513 168,528 41,485 79,977 376,772
4,930 421,318 426,248 50,185 123,206 754,792
252,769 213,879 466,648 55,946 137,254 104,694
- 14,243 14,243 66 14,985 158,413
850,011 2,022,188 2,872,199 453,714 687,710 685,104
11,742 10,759 22,501 563 5,455 2,210
1,826,636 6,883,308 8,709,944 1,036,665 2,087,568 4,037,405
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2008 GCC UAE
GCC
2016 GCC UAE
IMF 2016 GDP 2.4
UAE GCC 2016
2015 12 2006 2016
GCC
UAE
GCC
UAE 2015
GCC
25 GDP 6.9
2015 16
UAE ADX 2014 12 31
2015 12 31 16
UAE
2015 12 2006
2016

GCC
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2016 23
UAE

UAE

UAE
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UKLA
2016 31 5.792
6.361
IFRS
2016 31
2016 31
109.82
69.90
ADIC 69.90
ADIC
ADIC
ADIC
UAE
2015 12 31 UAE 49
UAE
NBD
HSBC

UAE
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UAE
)
UAE
UAE
UVAE
UAE
GDP 51.0
UVAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE UAE

UAE

UAE

2014

UAE

UAE
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WTO GCC

UAE

2014

UAE
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1958
2006 11 19 UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE 1992
1992 11 2005 30 238
238 235 237
UAE
UAE
238 235 237 238
UAE
UAE
UAE
2008
GCC UAE
GCC
UAE

IMF 2015 10 GDP UAE 2014
4.6 2013 4.3 2012 7.2

UAE

UAE
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UAE
UAE
2011
MENA
Daesh ISIS ISIL
UAE 2015
UAE 2015
12
UAE MENA
UAE UAE
UAE
UVAE
UAE
OPEC 2014 12 31 UAE 8.1 2014
GDP  27.9 UAE OPEC
OPEC OPEC 108
2014 75 2016 OPEC
26.50 2016 11
30.43

OPEC
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UAE
UAE UAE UAE
UAE
UAE
2011 23
2013 10 28 2013 31 2013 11 28 2013
12 28
UAE
48
20 2012 12 30
2012 3871
75
65
60 UAE
80
70
65
UAE 2013 32
2013 12 30 2014 30
2015 33
2015 27 UAE 2015
2012 30
UVAE
UAE

UAE UAE
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1980 11 22

UAE
UAE

UVAE

2016 14
UAE
Aa2 UAE

GCC
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4.1
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10
12 1.1
2015 RoE 12.9
15
2014 10 4.1
2015

35.5
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2014
11
44
71
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2015 943 8.6
bps 44bps
2015 508 2011
2014 UAE 1.5
2015 328 2.76 2015
6.1 105 2015

2015 407 2014 8.1

206
2015 234
36.5 6.75 Tier

14 43.2 Tier
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2015 33.4 2015
221.7

2015 12 31 UAE 114
45

2015 12 31 2.65

2015 12 31
15
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ADX 2000 2016 31 ADIC
69.90 ADIC
ADIC
30.10
2016 31 5,254,546
2015 12 31
5,209,723 2015 10
10 473,611 2014 12 31
4,736,112
2014 11 10
430,556 25 UAE
2015 12 31
5,198,640
2015 12 31

5,198,640 ADX
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ooooodn
2011 12 31
478,340 2,870,043 478,340 2,870,043
2012 12 31
1,004,515 3,874,558 1,004,515 3,874,558
2013 12 31
430,998 4,305,556 430,998 4,305,556
2004 12 31 430,556 4,736,112 430,556 4,736,112
2015 12 31
473,611 5,209,723 473,611 5,209,723
2011 2012 2014 2015
2013
39,584 391,414
2015 12 31
12 416 2,023 2,451
3,705,296,026 426,414,136 1,078,012,505 5,209,722,667
71.12 8.18 20.69 100.00
2015 12 31 ADX

721280
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ADX
2015 12 31 ADIC
2015 12 31
ADIC 61999 3,634,789,745 69.77
10 50
10
50
10
2016 15 0.45
2014 0.40 2015 12 31 10

473,611
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2011 12 31 2012 12 31 2013 12 31 2014 12 31 2015 12 31

AED 6.62 7.81 11.57 15.68 12.73
AED 5.06 5.79 7.74 9.14 7.65
ADX
ADX 2016 ADX
2015 2015 2015 2015 10 2015 11 2015 12
AED 10.90 10.80 10.10 9.49 8.85 8.25
AED 10.55 9.15 9.35 8.70 7.65 7.70
ADX
ADX 2016 ADX

74/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)
oOoOooodn

11 ADIC
11 SCA
ADIC
10
(2015 12
31 )
Etihad
Rail Compan
HE. pany
HE 1961 Mubadala Development Company
Nasser Ahmed P.J.5.C
Khalifa Alsowaidi
International
Petroleum Investment Company
P.J.S.C
H.E. UAE
1953
H.E. Sultan 26
Nasser Al Suwaidi
ADIA
Gulf Capital
AXA
AXA Green Crescent
Insurance Company
H.E.
1048 26,450
H.E. Hareb Masood 12 _ ’
_ The Zayed Bin
Al Darmaki -
Sultan Al Nahyan Charitable &
Humanitarian Foundation
ADIA
ADIA
AXA
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Sports Club

Abu Dhabi Onshore Oil
Operating Company

Union
National Bank
1974
Mr. i ) 43,124
Khalifa Sultan 11 Abu Dhabi National Insurance
Ahmed Al Suwaidi Company
Abu Dhabi
Investment Company Invest AD
Active Investment Strategies
1967 100,000
Mr. Hashim Fawaz 13 I hb f ’
Al Kudsi ] Al Wathba Company for
Central Services
1970 Chief Investment Officer
Mr. David Beau ) )
Abu Dhabi National Insurance
Company
H.E.
1932 Abu Dhabi National Insurance
H.E. 1 31 Company 110,615,344
Sultan Bin Rashed 3 UAE
Al Dhaheri
Etisalat
torl 31,466,146
Sheikh Ahmed National Hotels Company B
Mohammed Sultan Al Abu Dhabi
Dhaheri Aviation
Abu Dhabi Marine Investment
Company
197
Sheikh i Abu Dhabi National Insurance 26,451
Mohammed Saif 10 19 Compan
Mohammed Al pany
Nahyan ) ) Abu
Dhabi Marine Sport Club
National Drilling Company
Abu Dhabi National Tanker
Company
ADNOC Abu Dhabi National Oil
1967 Company
Mr. Matar Hamdan Excel London
Al Ameri ADNEC
Al Ain
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Ms. 1983
Mariam Saeed 11 16 Emirates Development Bank
Ghobash
Abu Dhabi Investment Company
13
(2015 12
31 )
2013
ANZ
ANZ
NE
1960 ANZ
Alex
ANZ 21
Thursby
UAE
1982
1961
Abdulla 2012 7,841,197
Mohamed Saleh 20
AbdulRaheem
1997 2006
1974
Khalaf Al 1 2009 2,887,550
Dhaheri
2012
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2006 12
ANZ
30
17
. 1955
Abhijit 165,000
Choudhury
1IF
1F
2014 30
ANZ
ANZ
1968
James 31 HSBC 10
Burdett
HSBC
2010
1959 20 15
Co0
Malcolm Walker 1
2008
2010
1975 LLP
Samer
Abdelhaq
2012
30
2005
2007
2013
1960
Qamber
Ali Al Mulla
NBAD
NBAD
NBAD
1955
Akram 2008
Mark Yassin GliB 12
2013 GWB
GB
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2007 2014 GM
NMahmood GWB = o 2004
Al Aradi 22
2010
GIiB 1967
- ABN
Ridiger von 12 16
Wedel
2003 2012 GRC
GB
1973
Abdulla Al
Otaiba GRC 24
UAE
1987 1994 UAE
1994
2000
Saif UAE 1966 2005
Ali Mohammed 15
Munakhas Al
201 AE
Shehhi 013 v
2009 518 SCA
2010
UAE 2010
UAE UAE
SCA
UAE 2009
UAE UAE
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SCA

2015

2016
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1,000,000.00 5,000.00
750,000.00 4,000.00
600,000.00 4,000.00

SCA

ETF
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GIA
GIA 61
ADNIF
GIA
GIA MENA
UAE
GIA
AED
UAE 2,721,493 404,526 3,126,019
183,650 - 183,650
321,644 - 321,644
* 41,927 - 41,927

82/280



EDINETOOOO

OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)

ooOooodn

164,392 12,102 176,494

156,837 13,957 170,795

413,077 - 413,077

AlB* 419,607 - 419,607
411,990 261,230 673,220

* 1,277,041 39,858 1,316,899
105,679 - 105,679

124,929 - 124,929

ADNL* 82,000 - 82,000
141,574 - 141,574

ADNP* 80,000 - 80,000
ADNIF* 105,000 - 105,000
NBAD 222,000 15,000 237,000
140,157 - 140,157

DIFC* - - -
154,476 12,727 167,203

7,267,473 759,399 8,026,872

AED

UAE 1,129,500 35,425 1,164,925
257,110 257,110

263,137 263,137

* 64,349 64,349
148,400 148,400

192,759 192,759

148,516 148,516

AlB* 420,559 420,559
391,034 391,034

* 856,085 38,494 894,578
158,645 158,645

96,692 96,692

ADNL* 65,000 65,000
137,984 137,984

ADNP* 115,500 115,500
ADNIF* 105,000 105,000
NBAD 134,000 134,000
64,502 64,502

DIFC* 46,280 46,280

83/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)
ooOooodn

180,430 44,443 224,873
4,975,480 118,362 5,093,842

Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
10
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IFRS

38

UFJ

UAE

oOoOooodn

2015 12 31
59 131
AED
2016
29.29
IFRS
IFRS
IFRS
b.
23 103
23 25 193
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ooooogd
12 31
2015 2014
76,382,109 2,237,231,973 55,452,341  1,624,199,068
12,291,138 360,007,432 15,425,662 451,817,640
10,891,768 319,019,885 11,134,262 326,122,534
10 13,330,186 390,441,148 15,844,377 464,081,802
39 10,574,091 309,715,125 7,422,828 217,414,632
11 205,913,553 6,031,207,967 194,279,352 5,690,442,220
12 63,794,151 1,868,530, 683 67,493,122  1,976,873,543
13 10,550, 483 309,023,647 6,370,981 186,606,033
14 190,546 5,581,002 177,533 5,199,942
15 2,645,782 77,494,955 2,498,254 73,173,860
406,563,807  11,908,253,907 376,008,712  11,015,931,274
16 42,808,215 1,253,852,617 36,679,504  1,074,342,672
17 30,550,652 894,828,597 13,875,917 406,425,609
18 8,720,597 255,426,286 5,484,176 160,631,515
39 12,852,358 376,445,566 10,953,124 320,817,002
19 233,814,558 6,848,428,404 243,184,652  7,122,878,457
20 17,740,968 519,632,953 14,998,716 439,312,392
21 15,582,508 456,411,659 11,442,600 335,153,754
362,069,856  10,605,026,082 336,618,689  9,859,561,401
22 1,275,298 37,353,478 1,516,641 44,422,415
363,345,154  10,642,379,561 338,135,330  9,903,983,816
23 5,198,640 152,268, 166 4,723,172 138,341,708
25 265,245 7,769,026 245,473 7,189,904
23 5,209,722 152,592,757 4,736,112 138,720,720
23 18,628,226 545,620,740 17,387,121 509,268,774
1 24 6,754,750 197,846,628 4,000,000 117,160,000
25 190,232 5,571,895 151,427 4,435,297
20 108,265 3,171,082 108,265 3,171,082
6,863,573 201,034,053 6,611,812 193,659,973
43,218,653 1,265,874,346 37,963,382  1,111,947,459
406,563,807  11,908,253,907 376,008,712  11,015,931,274
L 1 L 1 [ 1

45
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oooooog
12 31
2015 2014
26 8,965,129 262,588,628 8,634,612 252,907,785
27 (2,021,044) (59,196,379) (1,935,649)  (56,695,159)
6,944,085 203,392,250 6,698,963 196,212,626
28 385,625 11,294,956 336,892 9,867,567
29 (22,632) (662,891) (17,837) (522,446)
362,993 10, 632,065 319,055 9,345,121
7,307,078 214,024,315 7,018,018 205,557,747
2,994,548 87,710,311 3,002,520 87,943,811
(888,306) (26,018, 483) (691,928)  (20,266,571)
30 2,106,242 61,691,828 2,310,592 67,677,240
31 817,587 23,947,123 196,085 5,743,330
32 254,189 7,445,196 764,402 22,389,335
33 70,754 2,072,385 125,620 3,679,410
1,142,530 33,464,704 1,086,107 31,812,074
10,555,850 309,180,847 10,414,717 305,047,061
34 (4,082,919) (119,588,698) (3,696,033)  (108,256,807)
6,472,931 189,592,149 6,718,684 196,790, 254
35 (942,971) (27,619,621) (868,127)  (25,427,440)
5,529,960 161,972,528 5,850,557 171,362,815
36 (298,143) (8,732,608) (271,688) (7,957,742)
5,231,817 153,239,920 5,578,869 163,405,073
1 42 0.97 28.41 1.04 30.46
42 0.95 27.83 1.02 29.88

45

87/280



EDINETOOOO

OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)

Ooooood
12 31
2015 2014
5,231,817 153,239,920 5,578,869 163,405,073
(20,736) (607,357) (22,730) (665,762)
23 (38,237) (1,119,962) (42,584) (1,247,285)
23 17,013 498,311 380,315 11,139,426
23 (635,645) (18,618,042) (835,852)  (24,482,105)
(5,033) (147,417) (7,707) (225,738)
(682,638) (19,994, 467) (528,558)  (15,481,464)
4,549,179 133,245,453 5,050,311 147,923,609

45
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OoOoooooo

2014 1 1 4,280,470 143,608 2,152,778 2,152,778 15,202,544 4,000,000 107,682 823,053 (89,413) 108,265 5,789,626 34,671,301

- - - - - - - (498,121) (22,730) - 5,571,162 5,050,311

- - - - - - - - - - (18,077) (18,077)

14,490 101,865 - - - - - - - - - 116,355

(2,344) - - - 2,344 - - - - - - -

( ) 430,556 - - - (430,556) - - - - - - -

2014 ( ) - - - - - - - - - - (1,712,848)  (1,712,848)

( ) - - - - 2,400,000 - - - - - (2,400,000) -

( 2 - - - - - - 43,745 - - - - 43,745

) - - - - - - - - - - (187,495) (187,495)

/ ( ) - - 215,278 215,278 - - - - - - (430,556) -

2014 12 31 4,723,172 245,473 2,368,056 2,368,056 17,174,332 4,000,000 151,427 324,932 (112,143) 108,265 6,611,812 37,963,382

- - - - - - - (656,869) (20,736) - 5,226,784 4,549,179

- - - - - - - - - - (10,255) (10,255)

2,976 19,772 - - - - - - - - - 22,748

(1,119) - - - 1,119 . - - _ _ _ -

( ) 473,611 - - - (473,611) - - - - - - -

2014 ( ) - - - - - - - - - - (1,889,971)  (4,889,971)

( 23 - - - - 2,400,000 - - - - - (2,400,000) -

( 2 - - - - - - 38,805 - - - - 38,805

« 29) - - - - - 2,754,750 - - - - - 2,754,750

- - - - (8,798) - - - - - - (8,798)

« 29) - - - - - - - - - - (201,187) (201,187)

/ ( ) - - 236,805 236,805 - - - - - - (473,610) -

2015 12 31 5,198,640 265,245 2,604,861 2,604,861 19,093,042 6,754,750 190,232 (331,937) (132,879) 108,265 6,863,573 43,218,653
45

2014 1 1 125,374,966 4,206,278 63,054,868 63,054,868 445,282,514 117,160,000 3,154,006 24,107,222 (2.618,907) 3,171,082 169,578,146 1,015,525,042

- - - - - - - (14,589,964) (665,762) - 163,179,335 147,923,609
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« 23
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C 24
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2015 12 31
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- - - - - - - - - - (529,475) (529,475)
424,412 2,983,626 - - - - - - - - - 3,408,038
(68,656) - - - 68,656 - - - - - - -
12,610,985 - - - (12,610,985) - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - (50,169, 318) (50,169,318)
- - - - 70,296,000 - - - - - (70,296,000) -
B ) B ) ) 1,281,291 ) ) B ) 1,281,201
- B - B B B B B B - (5,491,729) (5,491,729)
- - 6,305,493 6,305,493 - - - - - - (12,610,985) -
138,341,708 7,189,904 69,360,360 69,360,360 503,036, 184 117,160,000 4,435,297 9,517,258 (3.284,668) 3,171,082 103,659,973 1,111,947,459
- - - - - - - (19,239,693) (607,357) - 153,092,503 133,245,453
- - - - - - - - - - (300,369) (300,369)
87,167 579,122 - - - - - - - - - 666,289
(32,776) - - - 32,776 - - - - - - -
13,872,066 - - - (13,872,066) - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - (55,357,251) (55,357,251)
- - - - 70,296,000 - - - - - (70,296,000) -
B ) B ) ) 1,136,598 ) ) B ) 1,136,598
° . B ) 80,686,628 . . ) B ) 80,686,628
B ) B ) (257,693) ) ) ) ) B ) (257,693)
B B B B B B B B B B (5.892,767) (5,892,767)
- - 6,936,018 6,936,018 - - - - - - (13,872,037) -
152,268,166 7,769,026 76,296,379 76,296,379 559,235,200 197,846,628 5,571,895 (9,722,435)  (3,892,026) 3,171,082 201,034,053 1,265,874,346
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Oooooodo
12 31
2015 2014
5,529,960 161,972,528 5,850,557 171,362,815
34 230,959 6,764,789 223,024 6,532,373
82,756 2,423,923 52,762 1,545,399
32 (635,645) (18,618,042) (835,852) (24,482,105)
22 148 4,335 - -
33 - - (56,353) (1,650,579)
35 1,363,412 39,934,337 1,348,655 39,502,105
(462,750) (13,553,948) (394,009) (11,540,524)
38,805 1,136,598 43,745 1,281,291
6,147,645 180,064,522 6,232,529 182,550,774
3,134,513 91,809,886 (12,779,769)  (374,319,434)
124,732 3,653,400 6,215,625 182,055,656
2,514,191 73,640,654 3,087,822 90,442,306
(13,004,150) (380,891,554) (11,970,294)  (350,609,911)
(4,168,689) (122,100,901) (1,436,820) (42,084,458)
6,128,711 179,509,945 919,122 26,921,083
16,674,735 488,402,988 12,523,796 366,821,985
(9,373,701) (274,555,702) 32,084,777 939,763,118
(810,147) (23,729,206) 2,377,937 69,649,775
4,111,163 120,415,964 3,636,828 106,522,692
11,479,003 336,219,998 40,891,553  1,197,713,587
(295,499) (8,655,166) (252,399) (7,392,767)
11,183,504 327,564,832 40,639,154  1,190,320,821
(51,186,794)  (1,499,261,196) (75,911,467) (2,223,446,868)
54,902,778 1,608,102,368 59,644,718  1,746,993,790
- - 165,785 4,855,843
(395,800) (11,592,982) (279,210) (8,178,061)
3,320,184 97,248,189 (16,380,174)  (479,775,296)
25 22,748 666,289 116,355 3,408,038
3,236,421 94,794,771 (1,267,839) (37,135,004)
5,798,757 169,845,593 1,330,441 38,968,617
(3,279,464) (96,055,501) (4,896,791)  (143,427,008)
2,745,952 80,428,934 - -
(124,938) (3,659,434) - -
23 (1,889,971) (55,357,251) (1,712,848) (50,169,318)
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oooooog
1 24 (201,187) (5,892,767) (187,495) (5,491,729)
6,308,318 184,770,634 (6,618,177)  (193,846,404)
20,812,006 609,583,656 17,640,803 516,699,120
54,126,926 1,585,377,663 36,486,123  1,068,678,543
12 31 37 74,938,932 2,194,961,318 54,126,926  1,585,377,663

45
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1968
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€))

1ASB

2015
2015 UAE
30

(b)

2016

2015

oOoOooodn

1984

2015 12 31

Islamic Sharia’a Supervisory

NBAD

27

IFRS
IFRIC
UAE

UAE
2016
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oOoOooodn

©

1,000

@

( )IFRS 2010 - 2012

IFRS

IFRS

IAS 39

IFRS

IAS 16 IAS 38

IAS 16 IAS 38
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IAS 24

( )IFRS 2011 - 2013

2014
IFRS

IFRS
IFRS

IFRS 13
IFRS 13
IAS 39

IAS 40
IAS 40

IAS 40 IFRS

( DIAS 19

@
IFRS 10

IFRS 10

@
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oOoOooodn
(b)
©)
()
@
2015
NBAD 100
NBAD 100
100
100
NBAD 100
1
NBAD 100
100
100
9
NBAD 100
NBAD DIFC 100
1
NBAD 100
10 100
NBAD 100
NBAD 100
NBAD 100

)
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154,472
2014 12 31 579,924

¢ )

¢ )
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(ah)

(ag)

31

IFRS 15

IAS 16

IFRS

2014
18 IAS 11
IFRS 15 2018
38 IAS 16 IAS 38
2016
IFRS 2014
IFRS IAS 39
IFRS 2018
IFRS
IFRS

IFRS
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GRC
G-ALCO
RMC
RMC

GRC RMC

GRC
GRC
G-ALCO G-ALCO
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€))

11
24 11
90 90
10 120
11 180
2015 2014
132,733,360 126,477,638
26,664,666 23,930,098
19,143,544 24,611,025
3,865,084 1,465,622
23,785,229 18,302,587
206,191,883 194,786,970
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Ooooood
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
- - 1,750,262 2,271,333 - -
718 718 2,347,374 1,649,271 3,342 3,342
- - 2,785,672 3,364,751 - -
718 718 6,883,308 7,285,355 3,342 3,342
- - (1,036,665) (1,124,889) - -
(718) (718) (2,087,568) (3,122,770) - -
- - 3,759,075 3,037,696 3,342 3,342
30 - - 342,240 153,436 - -
31 60 - - 608,016 151,313 - -
61 90 - - 272,687 177,448 - -
90 - - 603,693 1,161,766 - -
- - 1,826,636 1,643,963 - -
10,891,768 11,134,262 204,365,247 193,143,007 63,790,809 67,489,780
- - (4,037,405) (3,545,314) - -
10,891,768 11,134,262 205,913,553 194,279,352 63,794,151 67,493,122
36.2
2014 35.9
2,673 2014
1,302
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OooooOodd
12
12

2015 2014
2,673,243 1,301,787

2015 2014
1,301,787 1,925,914
(586,987) (1,672,761)
(526,770) (3.,946)
2,485,213 1,052,580
2,673,243 1,301,787

1.5
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UAE
2015
2014 12 31
2015 2014

0-50 2,227,378 2,996,388
50-100 1,164,453 1,585,044
100 3,491,477 2,703,923
6,883,308 7,285,355

2015 2014
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2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
121,016 177,690 - - - - 3,025 243,878
16,715,572 16,458,515 11,369,131 11,453,093 - - 4,895,118 3,695,326
18,676,518 14,008,892 187,700 296,994 - - 4,126,633 3,691,127
10,275,513 10,185,285 276,635 447,736 - - 3,552,609 1,854,454
37,729,525 35,291,197 55,237 11,425 - - 5,197,494 4,740,885
10,797,566 9,078,453 69,644 5,925 - - 2,149,929 1,322,361
16,467,741 15,677,618 3,592,124 2,733,929 - - 4,422,957 1,176,451
23,337,915 24,108,739 26,276,979 26,292,582 12,278,944 15,097,818 510,794 84,478
17,402,161 14,454,564 11,283,337 11,898,976 1,051,242 746,559 3,330,402 2,449,395
5,768,988 6,875,163 94,728 67,910 - - 888,396 2,336,002
20,319,828 23,435,214 20,940,249 27,632,632 - - 84,850 17,200
- - 1,939,525 2,077,582 - - - -
25,961,457 22,822,425 - - - - 237,613 152,427
9,407,613 9,402,258 - - - - 388,371 166,621
93,778 96,312 - - - - 2,147 169,459

213,075,191 202,072,325 76,085,289 82,918,784 13,330,186 15,844,377 29,790,338 22,100,064
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UAE
2015 12 31
56,088,919 8,676,576 4,916,552 6,686,811 13,251 - 76,382,109
4,259,257 3,604,090 2,206,610 1,022,383 1,175,800 22,998 12,291,138
132,456 9,195,874 1,038,278 172,239 339,510 13,411 10,891,768
2,492,191 3,086,686 7,732,044 19,265 - - 13,330,186
2,564,811 5,448,967 2,299,616 66,084 139,955 54,658 10,574,091
123,326,698 36,091,915 22,290,748 13,366,544 15,767,657 2,231,629 213,075,191
16,000,404 17,284,440 9,292,509 7,721,670 12,130,287 1,364,841 63,794,151
204,864,736 83,388,548 49,776,357 29,054,996 29,566,460 3,687,537 400,338,634
2014 12 31
25,923,632 1,940,356 6,901,337 20,682,075 4,941 - 55,452,341
4,503,547 3,935,090 2,614,687 1,954,294 1,453,448 964,596 15,425,662
1,890,669 7,261,253 1,018,633 149,202 796,729 17,776 11,134,262
1,653,409 3,619,180 10,563,621 - 8,167 - 15,844,377
2,332,646 3,949,324 1,037,800 61,654 17,147 24,257 7,422,828
117,589,832 37,545,083 17,478,795 10,978,644 17,123,565 1,356,406 202,072,325
17,160,578 14,482,857 12,504,983 14,475,736 8,509,619 359,349 67,493,122

171,054,313 72,733,143 52,119,856 48,301,605 27,913,616 2,722,384 374,844,917
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2015 2014 2015 2014
AAA 8,737,990 16,882,953 215,396 43,645
AA 43,655,663 41,206,783 7,603,105 11,067,470
BBB 10,037,106 6,669,819 2,475,005 2,202,910
1,363,392 2,733,567 1,997,632 2,111,637
63,794,151 67,493,122 12,291,138 15,425,662
2015 2014 2015 2014
20,024,093 26,255,217 916,156 1,377,415
370,400 237,073 1,569,128 1,840,510
18,308,431 18,833,102 2,820,260 2,015,112
21,276,123 18,303,585 5,000,856 7,988,997
3,815,104 3,864,145 1,984,738 2,203,628
63,794,151 67,493,122 12,291,138 15,425,662
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oOoOooodn
2015 12 31

76,382,109 75,844,493 537,616 - - - -
12,291,138 1,760,823 3,607,247 3,272,508 622,175 3,028,385 -
10,891,768 10,632,741 258,309 718 - - -
13,330,186 10,671,882 2,658,304 - - - -
10,574,001 972,618 1,382,894 2,828,035 1,508,624 3,881,920 -
205,913,553 42,993,900 19,996,303 37,620,046 46,069,522 59,233,782 -
63,794,151 4,488,104 2,484,621 8,313,096 16,076,948 32,431,382 -
10,550,483 7,912,863 2,637,620 - - - -
190,546 - - - - - 190,546
2,645,782 - - - - - 2,645,782
406,563,807 155,277,424 33,562,914 52,034,403 64,277,269 98,575,469 2,836,328
42,808,215 35,932,138 6,657,402 18,873 199,802 - -
30,550,652 27,963,532 2,587,120 - - - -
8,720,597 7,125,622 1,594,975 - - - -
12,852,358 1,270,786 1,161,440 2,856,894 2,199,441 5,363,797 -
233,814,558 209,805,846 19,503,593 3,490,452 634,750 379,917 -
17,740,968 - - 6,960,540 7,605,842 3,174,586 -
15,582,508 11,686,881 3,895,627 - - - -
1,275,298 914,205 - - - 361,093 -
43,218,653 - - - - - 43,218,653
406,563,807 294,699,010 35,400,157 13,326,759 10,639,835 9,279,393 43,218,653
29,790,338 2,661,071 6,740,535 10,013,062 6,255,392 4,120,278 -
995,631 202,015 57,217 562,400 173,999 - -
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2014 12 31

55,452,341 51,914,495 3,537,846 - - - -
15,425,662 2,546,859 3,643,831 6,097,025 572,182 2,565,765 -
11,134,262 10,475,464 658,798 - - - -
15,844,377 14,525,319 1,319,058 - - - -
7,422,828 1,546,297 941,943 1,393,080 1,099,799 2,441,709 -
194,279,352 44,544,174 18,756,573 27,686,168 44,319,741 58,972,696 -
67,493,122 2,893,227 4,871,748 15,720,286 9,713,627 34,294,234 -
6,370,981 4,778,236 1,592,745 - - - -
177,533 - - - - - 177,533
2,498,254 - - - - - 2,498,254
376,098,712 133,224,071 35,322,542 50,896,559 55,705,349 98,274,404 2,675,787
36,679,504 35,865,125 796,028 18,351 - - -
13,875,917 13,875,917 - - - - -
5,484,176 3,540,073 1,944,103 - - - -
10,953,124 1,455,819 1,154,224 1,124,491 1,622,594 5,595,996 -
243,184,652 229,147,733 11,634,192 1,400,368 785,906 216,453 -
14,998,716 2,768,851 502,628 3,192,007 6,745,751 1,789,479 -
11,442,600 8,581,950 2,860,650 - - - -
1,516,641 - - 1,037,047 - 479,594 -
37,963,382 - - - - - 37,963,382
376,098,712 295,235,468 18,891,825 6,772,264 9,154,251 8,081,522 37,963,382
22,100,064 3,203,400 4,245,812 5,272,667 5,145,619 4,232,566 -
1,031,799 462,484 73,460 257,110 238,745 - -
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2015 12 31
42,808,215 42,882,288 35,955,521 6,707,215 19,650 199,902 -
30,550,652 30,604,006 28,006,870 2,597,136 - - -
8,720,597 8,767,152 7,165,217 1,601,935 - - -
233,814,558 234,765,736 209,960,176 19,750,772 3,879,092 704,023 471,673
17,740,968 22,960,492 191,481 270,771 7,729,179 8,012,497 6,756,564
1,275,298 1,589,004 917,341 20,540 40,469 40,691 569,963
334,910,288 341,568,678 282,196,606 30,948,369 11,668,390 8,957,113 7,798,200
29,790,338 29,790,338 26,466,068 579,571 1,925,198 385,782 433,719
995,631 995,631 995,631 - - - -

2014 12 31
36,679,504 36,694,823 35,876,995 799,385 18,443 - -
13,875,917 13,879,251 13,879,251 - - - -
5,484,176 5,490,308 3,541,736 1,948,572 - - -
243,184,652 244,135,771 229,315,983 11,869,634 1,712,236 943,853 294,065
14,998,716 17,342,734 2,971,099 767,846 3,889,148 7,295,977 2,418,664
1,516,641 1,902,825 2,428 33,218 1,093,225 49,780 724,174
315,739,606 319,445,712 285,587,492 15,418,655 6,713,052 8,289,610 3,436,903
22,100,064 22,100,064 19,906,564 1,432,581 459,905 301,014 -
1,031,799 1,031,799 1,031,799 - - - -

©
GRC
G-ALCO
GRC
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VaR
VaR
VaR 99
VaR VaR
GRC VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
MAT VaR
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

VaR

16,984 8,315 12,220 12,115 7,023 5,332 24,505 25,123

15,131 1,809 9,220 2,388 46 247 22,525 7,174

6,549 7,560 6,663 9,749 5,294 4,656 11,011 18,856

3,869 4,191 3,618 5,346 1,910 1,430 5,346 14,719

8,565) 5,245) 7,281) 5,368) 227) 1,001) 14,377) 15,626)
VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR GRC
VaR
VaR
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
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Jooooog
VaR
97,072 81,943 84,105 89,735 59,546 72,958 103,427 117,435
14,591 1,455 8,219 2,812 1,579 1,058 21,576 6,953
29,071 27,779 21,639 18,540 13,209 10,896 30,885 41,853
95,737 82,012 84,952 93,639 57,904 79,998 99,775 118,004
42,327) 29,303) 30,705) 25,256) 13,146) 18,994) 48,809) 49,375)
39
50 2014 50
2015 2014 2015 2014
341,366 215,762 325,071 79,434
303,986 2014
278,229 251,024 2014 247,779
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2015 12 31

76,382,109 63,825,448 537,615 - - - 12,019,046
12,291,138 3,188,869 2,985,752 2,469,923 622,175 1,342,499 1,681,920
10,891,768 9,699,649 259,027 - - - 933,092
13,330,186 10,671,881 2,658,305 - - - -
10,574,091 - - - - - 10,574,001
205,913,553 186,893,571 13,963,140 1,392,181 1,945,374 1,365,226 354,061
63,794,151 6,958,927 2,344,295 6,852,960 15,639,730 31,825,636 172,603
10,550,483 - - - - - 10,550,483
190,546 - - - - - 190,546
2,645,782 - - - - - 2,645,782
406,563,807 281,238,345 22,748,134 10,715,064 18,207,279 34,533,361 39,121,624
42,808,215 33,537,182 6,657,402 18,873 199,802 - 2,394,956
30,550,652 27,963,532 2,587,120 - - - -
8,720,597 7,125,622 1,594,975 - - - -
12,852,358 - - - - - 12,852,358
233,814,558 153,301,129 15,876,123 3,444,461 607,537 376,310 60,118,998
17,740,968 1,376,733 - 5,767,088 7,422,561 3,174,586 -
15,582,508 - - - - - 15,582,508
1,275,298 914,205 - - - 361,003 -
43,218,653 - - - - - 43,218,653
406,563,807 224,308,403 26,715,620 9,230,422 8,229,900 3,911,989 134,167,473
56,929,942  (3,967,486) 1,484,642 9,977,379 30,621,372  (95,045,849)
19,620,165 7,412,516 146,045  (1,852,733) (24,992,293) (333,700)
76,550,107 3,445,030 1,630,687 8,124,646 5,629,079  (95,379,549)
76,550,107 79,995,137 81,625,824 89,750,470 95,379,549 -
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oooooog
2014 12 31
55,452,341 37,940,584 3,537,846 - - - 13,973,911
15,425,662 5,320,282 3,544,230 3,500,216 572,182 939,742 1,549,010
11,134,262 10,013,326 659,516 - - - 461,420
15,844,377 14,525,319 1,319,058 - - - -
7,422,828 - - - - - 7,422,828
194,279,352 179,263,873 10,626,271 785,660 1,964,399 1,176,727 462,422
67,493,122 6,994,356 4,484,108 13,612,369 8,897,148 32,882,201 622,940
6,370,981 - - - - - 6,370,981
177,533 - - - - - 177,533
2,498,254 - - - - - 2,498,254
376,098,712 254,057,740 24,171,029 17,898,245 11,433,729 34,998,670 33,539,299
36,679,504 34,087,388 796,028 18,351 - - 1,777,737
13,875,917 13,875,917 - - - . -
5,484,176 3,540,073 1,944,103 - - - -
10,953,124 - - - - - 10,953,124
243,184,652 179,848,560 10,415,527 1,391,507 744,030 162,356 50,622,672
14,998,716 2,768,851 502,628 3,192,007 6,745,751 1,789,479 -
11,442,600 - - - - - 11,442,600
1,516,641 - - 1,037,047 - 479,594 -
37,963,382 - - - - - 37,963,382
376,098,712 234,120,789 13,658,286 5,638,912 7,489,781 2,431,429 112,759,515
19,936,951 10,512,743 12,250,333 3,943,948 32,567,241  (79,220,216)
26,624,636  (4,083,326) 4,324,836 (759,154)  (26,106,992) -
46,561,587 6,429,417 16,584,169 3,184,794 6,460,249  (79,220,216)
46,561,587 52,991,004 69,575,173 72,759,967 79,220,216 -
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@

OooooOodd
12 31
2015 2014

) ) ) )/
36,696,915 (16,547,815) 20,149,100 10,020,237
(9,462,720) 9,297,239 (165,481) 212,434
5,141,779 (5,472,359) (330,581) 189,181
(907,613) 857,960 (49,653) (526,251)
(1,041,858) 1,043,328 1,470 (2,750)
(607,351) (5,694,882) (6,302,232) (2,327,591)
1,721,515 (1,701,947) 19,568 40,441
221,468 (205,495) 15,973 470,466
(66,289) 1,742,903 1,676,614 1,361,069
220,175 (432,717) (212,542) 79,843
(6,302) (48,139) (54,441) 375,877
533,025 (234,402) 298,623 266,422
(585,852) 562,711 (23,141) 133,456
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UAE 12 2014
2014

2015 2014
5,463,885 4,968,645
6,788,805 6,611,812
5,209,722 4,736,112
19,283,274 17,325,759
(132,879) (112,143)
- 108,265
6,754,750 4,000,000
(269,355) (17,647)
43,098,202 37,620,803
(331,937) 146,220
361,093 687,004
2,962,209 2,582,619
(15,752) (17,647)
2,975,613 3,398,196
46,073,815 41,018,999
236,976,736 209,665,272
20,397,958 23,611,281
17,883,226 16,936,730
275,257,920 250,213,283
15.66% 15.04%
16.74% 16.39%
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2015 CVA
CVA
60
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oOoOooodn
O)
2015 12 31
- - - N 76,382,109 - 76,382,109
11,343 12,279,795 - - - - 12,291,138
- - - = 10,891,768 - 10,891,768
- - - - 13,330,186 - 13,330,186
1,098,136 9,475,955 - - - - 10,574,091
- - - - 205,913,553 - 205,913,553
- - 57,002,707 6,791,444 - - 63,794,151
- - - - 10,396,640 - 10,396,640
1,109,479 21,755,750 57,002,707 6,791,444 316,914,256 - 403,573,636
- - - - - 42,808,215 42,808,215
- - - - - 30,550,652 30,550,652
- - - N - 8,720,597 8,720,597
3,900,635 8,951,723 - - - - 12,852,358
- - - - - 233,814,558 233,814,558
- - - - - 17,740,968 17,740,968
! - 3,363,136 - - - 11,323,391 14,686,527
- - - - - 1,275,298 1,275,298
3,900,635 12,314,859 - - - 346,233,679 362,449,173
1
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2014 12 31

- - - - 55,452,341 - 55,452,341
16,630 15,409,032 - - - - 15,425,662
- - - - 11,134,262 - 11,134,262

- - - - 15,844,377 - 15,844,377
240,300 7,182,528 - - - - 7,422,828
- - - - 194,279,352 - 194,279,352

- - 61,957,514 5,535,608 - - 67,493,122

- - - - 6,220,564 - 6,220,564
256,930 22,591,560 61,957,514 5,535,608 282,930,896 - 373,272,508

- - - - - 36,679,504 36,679,504
- - - - - 13,875,917 13,875,917
- - - - - 5,484,176 5,484,176
4,153,336 6,799,788 - - - - 10,953,124
- - - - - 243,184,652 243,184,652
- - - - - 14,998,716 14,998,716

- 2,270,053 - - - 8,325,861 10,595,914
- - - - - 1,516,641 1,516,641
4,153,336 9,069,841 - - - 324,065,467 337,288,644
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2015 12 31
8,954,986 3,324,809 - 12,279,795
11,343 - - 11,343
51,176,761 5,812,140 13,806 57,002,707
4,982 10,569,109 - 10,574,091
(73,799) (12,778,559) - (12,852,358)
60,074,273 6,927,499 13,806 67,015,578
2014 12 31
12,506,693 2,902,339 - 15,409,032
- 16,630 - 16,630
57,290,896 4,652,747 13,871 61,957,514
1,785 7,421,043 - 7,422,828
(6,520) (10,946,604) - (10,953,124)
69,792,854 4,046,155 13,871 73,852,880
528
2014 24
2015 2014
13,871 13,593
(65) 278
12 31 13,806 13,871
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2015 2014

1,537,890 1,488,410
UAE

12,286,267 11,269,355
41,055,045 3,500,000
1,339,930 9,903,969
1,107,314 2,466,507
19,055,663 26,824,100
76,382,109 55,452,341

2015 2014
1,339,604 1,354,939
10,609,218 13,876,652
342,316 194,071
12,291,138 15,425,662

11,343 2014
16,630

2015 2014
1,904,795 965,667
7,777,902 7,107,875
1,209,071 3,034,927
- 25,793
10,891,768 11,134,262

10
13,330
2014 15,844
(2014 )
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ooooooo
2015 12 31
14,077 (2014 16,564
2015 12 31
4,662 (2014 3,774 )
11
2015 2014
213,075,191 202,072,325
(1,036,665) (1,124,889)
(6,124,973) (6,668,084)
205,913,553 194,279,352
2015 2014
20,319,828 23,435,215
44,130,248 41,284,684
23,337,915 24,108,739
/ 89,918,130 81,019,004
/ 35,369,070 32,224,683
213,075,191 202,072,325
2015 2014
12,025,168 14,101,326
125,060,273 117,015,766
24,575,687 24,455,002
34,255,050 30,957,049
13,793,431 12,165,978
1,716,439 1,811,662
1,649,143 1,565,542
213,075,191 202,072,325
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oooooDod
2015 2014
6,668,084 6,327,026
503,282 574,433
1,476,162 1,152,484
(378,847) (473,901)
(685,050) (411,158)
(1,458, 658) (500,800)
12 31 6,124,973 6,668,084
7,592 2014 9,977

146/280
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147/280

ooooooo
2015 2014

5,534,022 5,807,880
3,667,084 2,880,632
16,230 3,984
12,405 8,591
9,229,741 8,701,087
(83,699) (56,664)
(701) (720)
9,145,341 8,643,703
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Ooooood
2015 2014
56,664 48,390
(7,971) 7,826
56,730 13,772
(369) (7,621)
(21,355) (5,703)
12 31 83,699 56,664
2015 2014
3,354,662 2,632,533
2,846,133 3,841,470
2,923,858 2,289,811
9,124,653 8,763,814
(3,590,631) (2,955,934)
5,534,022 5,807,880
2015 2014
2,466,185 829,612
744,191 3,098,557
2,323,646 1,879,711
5,534,022 5,807,880
2015 2014
8,437,582 6,842,737
(914,338) (685,394)
7,523,244 6,157,343
(183,341) (172,167)
(38,081) (20,666)
7,301,822 5,964,510
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oooooog

2015 2014 2015 2014
37,571 8,166 36,809 8,003
1,239,179 1,245,993 1,166,587 1,184,914
7,160,832 5,588,578 6,319,848 4,964,426
8,437,582 6,842,737 7,523,244 6,157,343
(914,338) (685,394) - -
7,523,244 6,157,343 7,523,244 6,157,343

2015 2014

172,167 146,301
(12,104) 5,262
23,278 20,604
12 31 183,341 172,167
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ooOooood
12
2015 2014
57,002,707 61,957,514
6,791,444 5,535,608
63,794,151 67,493,122
2015 2014
22,424 13,781 36,205 22,188 13,687 35,875
63,277,418 344,129 63,621,547 66,643,904 226,277 66,870,181
136,373 26 136,399 586,882 184 587,066
63,436,215 357,936 63,794,151 67,252,974 240,148 67,493,122
63,436,215 357,936 63,794,151 67,252,974 240,148 67,493,122
2015 12 31
24,434 2014
13
2015 2014
3,914,405 2,898,304
5,497,104 2,405,047
1,108,588 1,049,143
30,386 18,487
10,550,483 6,370,981
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oooooDod
14

2014 143,987
228,521
(174,259)
2014 12 31 198,249
30,818
(2,195)
2015 12 31 226,872
2014 8,727
2,015
19,501
(9,527)
2014 12 31 20,716
1,987
13,623
2015 12 31 36,326
2014 12 31 177,533
2015 12 31 190,546

151/280
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ooooooo

15

2014 2,631,925 788,602 340,059 151,378 3,911,964

29,675 61,990 37,436 173,862 302,963

19,305 55,988 4,370 (79,663) -

(82,225) (19,115) (15,373) - (116,713)

2014 12 31 2,598,680 887,465 366,492 245,577 4,008,214

17,920 42,029 13,487 347,636 421,072

15,500 150,167 16,063 (212,548) (30,818)

(16,513) (38,548) (29,938) - (84,999)

2015 12 31 2,615,587 1,041,113 366,104 380,665 4,403,469

2014 732,877 461,850 243,629 - 1,438,356

59,153 122,163 39,693 - 221,009

(25,845) (17,058) (16,502) - (59,405)

2014 12 31 766,185 566,955 266,820 - 1,599,960

42,464 148,270 38,238 - 228,972

4,300 - - - 4,300

(20,629) (27.851) (27,065) - (75,545)

2015 12 31 792,320 687,374 277,993 - 1,757,687

2014 12 31 1,832,495 320,510 99,672 245,577 2,498,254

2015 12 31 1,823,267 353,739 88,111 380,665 2,645,782
16

2015 2014

2,124,348 1,712,526

1,189,984 804,430

26,963,999 20,427,596

- 350,000

30,278,331 23,294,552

338,655 94,176

12,191,229 13,290,776

12,529,884 13,384,952

42,808,215 36,679,504

152/280
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17

2014

18

0.90 )

2015

2014 10,129
13,876
4,765
2006
2
8,720,597

12

13

(2014

153/280

2.2 2014
2014
5,484,176
-0.13 0.99

oOoOooodn

9.25

25,786
30,551

3,747

ECP

)

(2014 0.05
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ooOooood
19
2015 2014
58,809,496 56,575,565
12,449,667 11,709,701
1,379,276 1,088,714
138,649,803 163,051,617
211,288,242 232,425,597
22,526,316 10,759,055
233,814,558 243,184,652
2015 2014
26,172,119 69,576,013
51,607,710 38,591,210
67,610,865 61,244,186
65,897,548 63,014,188
211,288,242 232,425,597
22,526,316 10,759,055
233,814,558 243,184,652
2015 2014
UAE 130,476,271 168,406,055
28,224,650 19,785,974
30,004,257 29,396,480
12,279,589 7,349,566
10,116,743 7,151,183
186,732 336,339
211,288,242 232,425,597
22,526,316 10,759,055
233,814,558 243,184,652
2015 2014
2,546,852 3,320,410
385,128 360,627
2,931,980 3,681,037

154/280
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ooooooo
20
2015 2014
1,766,137 1,728,180
15,974,831 13,270,536
17,740,968 14,998,716
500 2018
108,265
2015 2014
80,527 1,205,479
111,803 _
99,901 _
75,826 _
4,058,665 _
1,377,375 _
5,804,097 1,205,479
15.96 2014 15.16
522.40 2014 22.03
2015 2014

155/280
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ooooooo
12 31
2015 2014

3.4

- - 817,075 1,191,935 - 2,009,010 - - - 2,167,177 - 2,167,177
4.8

- - - 114,293 - 114,293 - - - - - -
0.6

- - - 99,887 - 99,887 - - - - - -
2.4
4.5 - - 299,795 160,050 429,833 889,678 - - 300,703 159,376 337,227 797,306
2.6

- - - - 323,385 323,385 - - - - 369,707 369,707
0.5

- - - - 33,184 33,184 - - - - 32,261 32,261
4.8
4.9 - - - 404,616 - 404,616 - 502,628 - - 492,505 995,133
5.1

- - 4,650,218 5,451,779 2,388,184 12,490,181 2,768,851 - 2,891,304 4,419,198 557,779 10,637,132
LIBOR
37 68bps - - 1,193,452 183,282 - 1,376,734 - - - - - -

- - 6,960,540 7,605,842 3,174,586 17,740,968 2,768,851 502,628 3,192,007 6,745,751 1,789,479 14,998,716
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oooooog
21
2015 2014
3,538,842 2,375,884
13 3,885,572 1,877,159
487,047 462,620
7,546,500 6,615,847
124,547 111,090
15,582,508 11,442,600
2015 12 31
UAE
( )
2015 2014
4.00 3.25
2.00 3.00
+/-50 9,871
2014 14,818 10,633 2014 :12,722
+/-50
10,815 2014 12,895 10,133 2014
:12,256
2015 2014
462,620 448,018
93,789 90,702
(69,362) (76,100)
12 31 487,047 462,620
79,970 2014 73,039
11,874 2014 12,830

157/280
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oooooog
2015 2014
111,090 92,380
308,956 271,109
(295,499) (252,399)
12 31 124,547 111,090
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Ooooood
22
2015 2014
2006 15 914,205 1,037,047
2012 12 10 361,003 479,594
1,275,298 1,516,641
2006 15
2005 11 22 2016 15 2.5
EIBOR
0.25
2006 15 125,000 2014
124,938 124,790
2014 148 2014
2015 2014
2,500,000 2,500,000
(72,926) (72,926)
2,427,074 2,427,074
26,357 27,846
(1,347,973) (1,347,973)
(191,253) (69,900)
914,205 1,037,047
2015 12 31 EIBOR 0.301 2014 EIBOR
0.301
2012 12 10
2012 12 10 2027 12 500
4.75
427.74
2014 524.71
65.19 2014 43.22 2015 12 31
4.79 (2014  4.79 )
2015 2014

159/280
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ooooooo
23
5,210 2014
4,736 2015 12 31
5,210 2014
4,736
2015 2014
4,736,112 4,305,556
4,736,112 4,305,556
473,611 430,556
5,209,723 4,736,112
« 25 (11,083) (12,940)
12 31 5,198,640 4,723,172
1980 10
50 10
12 31
2015 2014
0.40 2014 0.40 1,889,971 1,712,848
10 2014 10 473,611 430,556
2016 27 2015 0.40
2014 0.40 10
()
2015 10
AGM 2.4 2014 12 31 2.4
)

160/280
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Ooooood
2015 2014
331,620 787,157
17,013 380,315
(635,645) (835,852)
12 31 (287,012) 331,620
(6,688) 35,896
(38,237) (42,584)
12 31 (44,925) (6,688)
12 31 (331,937) 324,932
24
@ (V)
201.2 2014 187.5
2015 2014
4,000,000 4,000,000
EIBOR 2.3
750 2,754,750 -
3.35
6,754,750 4,000,000

161/280
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ooooogd
2015 17 750
5.25 5
3.35
3.35
5 2020
17
25
2008
2,976 2014 14,490
2,976 2014 14,490 19,772
2014 101,865
2015 2014
33,278 23,950
18,745 24,505
(1,096) (634)
(2.976) (14,490)
(V)] (53)
12 31 47,881 33,278
2015 7.64 2014 8.03
2015 12 31 6.85
12 2014 7.54 11.44
2015 2014
12,940 25,086
12,940 25,086
(2,976) (14,490)
9,964 10,596
1,119 2,344
12 31 11,083 12,940

162/280
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ooOooood
26
2015 2014
199,761 204,813
128,481 179,446
72,130 102,801
275,002 234,139
1,756,584 1,879,110
6,533,171 6,034,303
8,965,129 8,634,612
27
2015 2014
297,803 177,035
120,392 9,236
28,571 19,505
986,732 1,000,909
553,362 689,424
34,184 39,540
2,021,044 1,935,649
28
2015 2014
203,725 223,266
181,900 106,564
- 7,062
385,625 336,892
29
2015 2014
16,705 14,355
5,927 3,482
22,632 17,837

163/280
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ooooooo
30
2015 2014

601,825 518,650

58,548 76,515

65,652 147,079

133,047 187,667

22,137 146,065

802,168 801,845

1,046,546 852,798

68,327 94,890

70,833 73,638

125,465 103,373

2,994,548 3,002,520

31,247 35,459

5,977 6,110

736,122 569,755

90,524 51,068

24,436 29,536

888,306 691,928

2,106,242 2,310,592
31

2015 2014

1 469,412 (105,120)

348,175 301,205

817,587 196,085

32

164/280
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Ooooood
32
2015 2014
2 (384,523) (78,806)
635,645 835,852
3,067 7,356
254,189 764,402
2
71 (2014 72 )
33
2015 2014
- 56,353
70,754 69,267
70,754 125,620
34
2015 2014
2,773,739 2,532,726
1,041,688 907,387
230,959 223,024
36,533 32,896
4,082,919 3,696,033
35
2015 2014
503,282 574,433
1,476,162 1,152,484
(685,050) (411,158)
(378,847) (473,901)
64,707 43,635
(41,594) (6,627)
)/
11 3,603
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Ooooooog
4,300 (14,342)
942,971 868,127
36
2015 2014
308,956 271,109
(10,813) 579
298,143 271,688
2015 2014
1,144,973 1,016,862
277,435 245,925
(3,918) (6,951)
13,619 27,888
(358) (1,338)
- (2,804)
(1,792) (2,556)
6,793 11,524
6,364 -
298,143 271,688
37
/
2015 2014
72,190,756 51,166,206
2,748,176 2,960,720
74,938,932 54,126,926
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OooooOodd
38
2014 2013
49,145,032 56,212,240
67,300,403 64,839,308
29,790,338 22,100,064
995,631 1,031,799
147,231,404 144,183,411
- 43,147 159,799
- 205,082 114,117
248,229 273,916
147,479,633 144,457,327
2015 2014
1 68,316 37,454
1 100,791 61,566
5 35,975 15,097
205,082 114,117
496 2014 606

167/280
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oOoOooodn

2015 2014 2015 2014
UAE 14,478,228 12,352,565 - -
5,955,360 1,845,477 - -
3,513,468 2,962,213 2,123 2,199
2,990,131 2,353,289 626,208 552,110
2,074,032 2,124,435 367,300 477,490
779,119 462,085 - -
29,790,338 22,100,064 995,631 1,031,799
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39

0TC
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2015 12 31

5,033,078 4,675,069 625,847,091 47,366,567 141,472,273 195,125,666 134,640,897 107,241,688
2,389 1,860 14,308,184 734,600 11,737,084 1,836,500 - -
244,004 244,467 53,747,200 14,169,773 1,310,989 9,266,665 4,929,424 24,070,349
2,237,645 2,333,890 304,043,488 167,162,289 100,855,857 32,446,760 3,578,582 -
854,097 613,922 97,978,672 17,179,858 41,087,785 37,842,121 1,609,725 259,183
1,104,742 1,082,515 3,021,823 1,116,014 717,969 1,091,898 95,942 -
9,475,955 8,951,723 1,098,946,458 247,729,101 297,181,957 277,609,610 144,854,570 131,571,220
1,095,974 3,752,994 70,867,087 2,955,174 5,244,765 13,212,719 16,695,564 32,758,865
1,095,974 3,752,994 70,867,087 2,955,174 5,244,765 13,212,719 16,695,564 32,758,865
1,981 144,625 3,992,726 - - - 3,662,037 330,689

181 3,016 450,954 302,983 147,971 - - -

2,162 147,641 4,443,680 302,983 147,971 - 3,662,037 330,689
10,574,001 12,852,358 1,174,257,225 250,987,258 302,574,693 290,822,329 165,212,171 164,660,774
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4,083,652 3,618,413 492,193,642 46,689,605 122,982,587 124,502,492 112,422,485 85,596,473
14,148 7,178 45,397,661 - 45,397,661 - - -
228,215 235,093 199,324,256 161,251,128 7,568,951 6,996,723 4,417,348 19,090,106
2,253,794 2,390,280 261,772,444 147,620,304 92,573,183 20,454,029 1,124,928 -
231,895 187,576 43,924,361 7,121,106 15,373,524 19,222,732 1,242,976 964,023
370,824 361,248 2,702,980 594,307 1,079,996 818,752 209,925 -
7,182,528 6,799,788 1,045,315,344 363,276,450 284,975,902 171,994,728 119,417,662 105,650,602
237,833 4,151,288 54,625,157 3,410,218 5,959,527 31,198,306 1,403,677 12,653,429
237,833 4,151,288 54,625,157 3,410,218 5,959,527 31,198,306 1,403,677 12,653,429
2,467 2,048 2,499,033 2,499,033 - - - -
2,467 2,048 2,499,033 2,499,033 - - - -
7,422,828 10,953,124 1,102,439,534 369,185,701 290,935,429 203,193,034 120,821,339 118,304,031

171/280
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2015 12 31

2014

40

2006

1,220,418 2014 661,805
7,160,295
EXCO
16
69.92 2014  69.96
4,000 (2014 4,000 )
128.9 2014  187.5

172/280
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0000000

2015 2014
90,356 79,875
2,058 2,010
1,563 1,524
13,240 8,224
6,689 7,917

-0.05 8.25 2014

0.05 10.75
4.50 2014 3.80
2015 2014
1,042,519 6,861,860 59,025,990 66,930,369 72,679,876
353,904 4,545,923 45,779,356 50,679,183 90,133,577
130,131 5,703,758 17,124,831 22,958,720 43,540,431
34,548 502,991 1,611,574 2,149,113 2,197,909
234 286,730 155,104 442,068 421,050
2,224 3,116 80,251 85,591 75,407
2014
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UAE

2015 12 31
3,602,317 766,996 3,032,066 (94,301) 7,307,078 5,802,327 259,085 1,245,666 7,307,078
1,519,516 283,241 1,089,280 356,735 3,248,772 2,554,636 94,031 600,105 3,248,772
5,121,833 1,050,237 4,121,346 262,434 10,555,850 8,356,963 353,116 1,845,771 10,555,850
1,337,878 437,301 2,308,472 (822) 4,082,919 3,271,007 168,443 643,379 4,082,919
606,145 33,530 508,825 (205,529) 942,071 799,706 (14,485) 157,750 942,071
3,177,810 579,316 1,304,049 468,785 5,529,960 4,286,160 199,158 1,044,642 5,529,960
157,154 76,392 64,413 184 298,143 (3,000) 17,306 283,837 298,143
3,020,656 502,924 1,239,636 468,601 5,231,817 4,289,160 181,852 760,805 5,231,817
277,880,276 32,135,140 86,441,602 60,394,264 456,851,282 322,169,714 9,922,165 88,843,241 420,935,120
(50,287,475) (14,371,313)
406,563,807 406,563,807
272,765,689 31,169,199 83,303,475 26,394,266 413,632,629 283,612,659 8,389,836 85,713,972 377,716,467
(50,287,475) (14,371,313)
363,345,154 363,345,154
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UAE
2014 12 31

3,870,044 717,652 2,424,174 6,148 7,018,018 5,646,828 229,595 1,141,595 7,018,018
1,517,930 382,409 1,212,925 283,435 3,396,609 2,794,632 79,526 522,541 3,396,699
5,387,974 1,100,061 3,637,099 289,583 10,414,717 8,441,460 309,121 1,664,136 10,414,717
1,191,965 395,435 2,079,166 29,467 3,696,033 2,998,503 139,875 557,655 3,606,033
391,738 24,624 382,494 69,271 868,127 660,170 56,958 150,999 868,127
3,804,271 680,002 1,175,439 190,845 5,850,557 4,782,787 112,288 955,482 5,850,557
149,477 80,025 42,186 - 271,688 (2,598) 13,848 260,438 271,688
3,654,794 599,977 1,133,253 190,845 5,578,869 4,785,385 98,440 695,044 5,578,869
260,181,625 32,909,290 80,760,544 47,524,730 430,385,189 304,362,847 9,557,187 82,642,218 396,562,252
(54,286,477) (20,463,540)

376,098,712 376,098,712

254,395,960 31,778,483 86,246,126 20,001,238 392,421,807 270,481,225 8,239,620 79,878,025 358,598,870
(54,286,477) (20,463,540)

338,135,330 338,135,330
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2015 2014

5,231,817 5,578,869
(201,187) (187,495)
5,030,630 5,391,374
4,723,172 4,280,470
2015 472,492 472,492
2014 - 428,212
2,163 8,173
C ) 5,197,827 5,189,347
0.97 1.04
5,030,630 5,391,374
45,541 44,547
5,076,171 5,435,921
5,197,827 5,189,347
117,655 117,655
C ) 5,226 11,244
5,320,708 5,318,246
0.95 1.02

43

2015 12 31 7,285 2014
9,289
44
SPE SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE
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NBAD 58
NBAD 100
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Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December
2015 2014
MNote AEDDD0 AEDO00
Assets
Cash and balanoes with central banks 7 76,382,109 55,452 341
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 8 12,291,138 15,425,662
Due from banks and finandial institutions 9 10,891,768 11,134,262
Reverse repurchase agreements 1o 13,330,156 15,844,377
Derivative financial instruments i3 10,574,091 7422828
Loans and advances 11 205,913,553 194,279,352
Mon-trading investments 12 63,794,151 67,493,122
Other assets 13 10,550,483 6,370,981
Investment properties 14 190,546 177,533
Property and equipment 15 2,645,782 2,498,254
Total assets 406,563,807 376,098,712
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 16 42,808,215 36,679,504
Repurchase agreements 17 30,550,652 13875917
Euro commercial paper 18 8,720,597 5,484,176
Derivative financial instruments 39 12,852 358 10,953,124
Customer accounts and other deposits 19 233,814,558 243,184,652
Term borrowings 20 17,740,968 14,998,716
Other liabilities 21 15,562,508 11,442,600
362,069,856 336,618,689
Subardinated notes 22 1,275,298 1,516,641
Total liabilities 363345154 338,135,330
Equity
Share capital 5,198,640 4723172
Share premium 265,245 245473
Statutory and special reserves 5,209,722 4,736,112
Other reserves 18,628,226 17,387,121
Tier 1 capital notes 6,754,750 4,000,000
Share option scheme 190,232 151,427
Convertible notes - equity component 108,265 108,265
Retained earnings 6,863,573 6,611,812
Total equity 43,218,653 37,963,362
Total liabilities and equity 406,563,807 376,098,712
\‘a

!

Masser Ahmed Khalifa Alsowaidi
Chairman

Group Chief Financial Officer

The notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of consolidated financial stalements.
The independent auditors” report is set out on page 2 and 3.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 Decemnber

2015 2004
Nate AEDronn AED(0
Interest income 26 8,965,119 BA34.612
Interest expense 7 (2,021,044} 11,935,64%)
Metinlerest income 6,044,085 5,608,063
Income from Islamic fnancing confracts 28 385,625 336,802
Depositars’ share of profits 29 (22,61) {17,437
Metincome from Islamic financing contracts 362,993 319,055
Metinterest and Islamic financing income 7 307,075 7018018
Pee and commission income 2994 548 3002520
Fee and commission expense (885,306} (691,928)
Met fee and commission income 30 2,106,242 235310592
Met foreign evchange gain 31 H17.567 196,065
Met gain on investments and derivatives 32 254,169 Tod A0z
Other operating incoms 33 70,754 125,620
1,142,530 1,088,106
Orperating income 10,555 850 10414,717
General, administration
and other operating expenses 34 (4,052,919) {3,656, 053)
Pratit before net
impairment charge and taxation 6,472,931 6718684
Met impairment charge 35 (942.971) (863,127
Protit before taxation 5,529,960 5850557
Chrerseas income fax expense 36 (295,143) {271,688)
Net profit for the year 5,231,817 5578860
E— —
Basic eamings per share (AED) 42 nery 1.4
Diluted carnings per shane (AED) §2 0.es 102

The notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
The independent auditors’ report is set out on page 2 and 3.
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December

2015 2004
Note AEDDOO AED000
Met profit for the year 5,231 817 5,578,860
Other comprehensive income
Exchange difference on
translation of foreign operations (20,736) (22.730)
Cash flow hedges:
Effective portion of cash flow hedges 23 (38,237) (42,554}
Fair vahee reserve:
Met change in fair value during the year 23 17,013 380315
Met cumnulative amount transferred to profit or loss 23 (635,645) (835,852)
Ttens that will nof subsequenfly be reclaesified i
consolidated siatenent of profit or loss
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations (5,033) (7,707}
Other comprehensive income for the year {682, 638) (528,558)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4,549,179 5,050,311

The notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated financdal staternents,
The independent auditors’ report is set out on page 2 and 3.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

015 2014
Mate AEDXDOD AEDD00
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 5,520,960 HE50,557
Adpustments for:
Depredation 34 230,959 23024
Accreted inferest BLT56 52, 7ed
Gain on sale of non-trading investrents 33 (535,645} {B35,852)
Logs on buy back of subordinated notes 22 148 -
Gain on sale of investment properties 33 - {56,353)
Met impairment charges 35 1,363 412 1,348,655
Foreign currency translation adjustment (462,750} {354,009}
Share option scheme 38,505 43,745
6,147 645 6232520
Change in investments at fair value through profit or loss 3,13 513 (12, 770.765)
Change in due from central banks, banks and
finandal institutions 124,732 6215625
Change in reverse reprirdhase agreements 2,514,191 3067822
Change in loans and advanees {13,004, 150} (11,970,204}
Change in other assets (4,165,669} {1,456,820)
Chanpe in due to banks and Anancial instttutions 6,126,711 ai9122
Change in repurchase agreements 16,674,735 12523, 79%
Change in Customer accounis and other deposits (9373701} 32,084,777
Change in demivative fnancial instnurnents (510,147} 2377937
Change in other labilities 4,111,163 636,828
11,479,003 40691555
Owerseas income tax paid, net of recoveries (295,459} {252 300
Metcash from operating activities 11,163,504 40639154
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of non-trading investments (51,186,784} {75,911,457)
Proceeds from sale [ maturity of non-trading investments 54,902,776 50644718
Proceeds from sabe of investment properties - 165,785
Purdhase of property and equipment, net of disposals (395,500} {220
Metcash from / (used in} investing activities 3,320,184 {16,380,174)
Cash flows from Hnancing activities
Prooreds from issue of shares under share option schemse 5 22,746 116,355
Met movernent of Euro commercial paper 3236421 {1,267 435
lzsue of term borrowings 5,798,757 1,330,441
Repayment of term borrowings (3,279,464} 14,896,791
Met proceeds from issue of Tier 1 Capital Notes 2,745,952 -
Buy back of subordinated notes (124,938} -
Dividends paid 23 (1,669,971} {1,712,848)
Payment on Tier 1 capital notes 24 (200,167} (187,495)
Metcash from / (used in} financing activities 6,308,315 {6.618,177)
Metincrease in cash and cash equivalents 20,512,006 17,640,805
Cash and cashequivalents at 1 Jamuary 54,126,926 36,466,123
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ar 74,935 932 54,126,926
T

The notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated finandal statements.
The independent auditors” report is set out on page 2 and 3,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Legal status and principal activities

Maticnal Bank of Abu Dhabi FISC (the “Bank™) was established in Abu Dhabi in 1968 with limited liability
and is registered as a Public Joint Stock Company in accordance with the Undted Arab Emirates Federal Law
Mo 8 of 1984 {as amended) relating to Commercial Comparies.

Its registered office address is P, O Box 4, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emdrates. The consolidated financial
staternents as at and for the year ended 31 December 2013 comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries (together
referred to a3 the “Group”). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, retadl, private and investment
banking achivities, management services, Islamic banking achivities; and carries out its operations through its
local and overseas branches, subsidiaries and representative offices located in United Arab Emirates, Bahrain,
Egypt. France, Oman, Kuwait, Brazil Cayman Islands, Sudan, Libya, the United Kingdom, Switzerland,
Hemg Kong, India, Jordan, Lebanen, Malaysia, China and the United States of America.

The Group’s Islamic banking activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Sharia’a laws 1ssued by the
Sharia’a Supervisory Board.

The Bank is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: NBADY). The parent company of the Bank is
the Abu Dhabi Investment Councdl, an entity owned by the Govermnment of the Emirate of Abu Dhabi,

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
27 January 2016

2 Basis of preparation
{a)  Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an ongoing basis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Sfandards (IFRSs) (which comprises accounting standards issued by
infernational Accoumting Standards Board (LASB} as well as Inferpretations issued by the Intemational
Financial Feporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)) and the requirements of applicable laws in the TUAE

On 1 April 2015, a new UAE Federal Law No 2 for Commerdal Companies (“UAE Compardes Law of 2015")
was issued with effective date 1 July 2015, As per the transiional provisions of the new law, comparies ane to
ensure compliance by 30 June 2016, The Bank is in the process of adopting the new federal law and will be
fully compliant before the transitional provisions deadline.

{b}  Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial staternents are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:

investments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value;

derivative finanaal instruments are measured at fair value;

nor-trading investments classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value;

recognized assets and labilites designated as hedged items in qualifying hedge relationships are
adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the sk being hedged; and

* nem-financial assets acquired in setflement of loans and advances are measured at the lower of their fair
value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan and advances,

{c}  Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Didnams ("AED”), which is
the Bank's hmctional currency. Items included in the financial statements of each of the Bank's overseas
subsidiaries and branches are measured using the currency of the primary economic envirorement in which
they operate. Except as mdicated, information presented in AED has been rounded to the neanest thousand.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
2 Basis of preparation (continued)
{d} Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting polides and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and experse. Actual resulis may differ from these estimates,

Estimates and underlying assumptions ave reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions {o accounting estimates
are recogrised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any huture periods affected.

Infoemation about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated finandal
stafermnents are described in note 5.

3 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated finandal statements and have been applied consistently by Group entiies except for the new
standards and interpretations that became applicable and were adopted during the year.

Newr starndards and interpretations adopled

During the year new standards, amendments to standards and mferpretations have become effective for the
period and have been applied in preparing these consolidated financial staternents. These amendments are
listed below:

) Anmal Tovprovements to IFRS: 2010 - 2012 Cycle

IFRS 2 Shave-based Payrent
This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies varous issues relating fto the definiions of
performance and service conditions which are vesting conditions.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that all conmfingent consideration arrangements
classified as Habilities {or assets) arising from a business combination should be subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss whether or not they fall within the scope of 1AS 39,

IFRS B Opevating Segrends

The amendments are applied refrospectively and clarify that an entity must disclose the judgements made by
management in applying the aggregation criteria, including a brief description of operating segments that
hawve been aggregated and the economic characteristics used to assess whether the segments are ‘similar’. The
reconcliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported
to the chiel operating dedsion maker, similar to the required disclosure for segment liabilities

IAS 16 Properly, Plant and Equipment and [AS 38 Inlangible Assels

The amendment is applied retrospecively and darfies in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that the asset may be revaluad
by referenice to observable data by either adjusting the gross carrying amount of the asset to market valee or
by determining the market value of the carrying valwe and adjusting the gross carrying amount
proportonately so that the resulting carmying amount equals the market value. In addition, the accumulated
depreciation or amortisation 15 the difference befween the gross and carrying amounts of the asset. This
amendment is not applicable as the Group follows the cost model for property and equipment.

10
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)

Newo standards and intevpretations adopled{coniinued)

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

The amendment is applied retrospectively and darifies that a management entity (an entity that provides key
management personnel services) is a melated party subject to the related party disdosures. In addifion, an
entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the expenses incurrad for management services.
This amendment 15 not relevant for the Group as it does not receive any management services from other
entities,

(i) Anrual Irn 11-2013C

These improvements are effective from 1 July 2014 and the Group has applied these amendments for the first
Hme in these consolidated financial staternents. They include:

IFRS 3 Busiress Contbirations

The amendment is applied prospectively and darifies for the scope exceptions within IFRS 3 that, joint
arrangements, not just joint ventures, ane outside the scope of IFRS 3 and this scope exception applies only to
the acoounting in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself. This amendment is not relevant for
the Group and its subsidiaries.

IERS 13 Fair Value Measurenent
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in I[FES 13 can be appliad
not only o financial assets and financial Habilites, but also to other contracts within the scope of TAS 39,

IAS 40 Inoestnent Property

The descripton of ancillary services in IAS 40 differentiates between investment properly and owner-
occupied property (Le., property, plant and eguipment). The amendment is applied prospectively and
clarifies that [FRS 3, and not the description of ancillary services in [AS 40, is used fo determine if the
transaction is the purchase of an asset or a business combination.

(i) Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits: clarify the requirements that relate to how contributions from
employees or third parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service,

The Group does not have a material impact on adoption of these amendments,

{a} Basis of consolidation

[FES 10 governs the basis for consolidation where 1t establishes a single control model that applies to all
enfifies including spedal purpese entifies or struchured entities. The definition of control is such that an
investor condrols an investee when it is exposed to, or has fghts, to variable retums from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. To meet the
definition of control in IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met, including

(a) the investor has power over an mvestes;
() the investor has exposure to, or dghts, to variable refums from its invelvement with the investee; and

(¢} the investor has the ability fo use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's
refurms,

11
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)

{a)  Basis of consolidation {conbinued)

{1 Subsidisries
Subsidiaries are investees that controlled by the Group. The Group controls the investea if it meets the control
criteria discussed in note 3a), The Group reassesses whether it has control if, there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control This inchudes crcumstances in which protective rights held become
substantive and lead fo the Group having power over an investee, The financial statements of subsidiaries are
inchided in these consolidated fnancial statements from the date that control commences untll the date that
control ceases. These consolidated finandal statements of the Group comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries as

listed below:
Counlry of Principal Holding

Legal Name incorporation activities s
MNBAD Americas NV, (formerly Al Dlabi

International Bank N.V.) Curacao Banking 100
MBAD Securities LLC United Arab Emirates  Brokerage 100%
Abu Dhabi National Leasing LLC United Arab Emirates  Leasing 100%
Abu Dhabi Mational Properties PrfC United Arab Emirates  Property Management 1005
MBAD Trust Company (Jersey) Limnited! Channel Islands Fund Management 100%
MBALD Private Bank (Suisse) SA Switzerland Banking 100%
Abu Dhabi Mational Islamic Finance Pyt ]5C United Arab Emirates  Islamic Finance 100
Ample China Holdings Limited Hong, Kong, Leaging, 100%
Abu Dhabi Brokerage Egypt Egypt Brokerage 05%
Mational Bank of Abu Dhabd Malaysia Berhad Malaysia Barbding 10065
MNBAD Investment Management (DIFC) Limited! United Arab Emirates  Fund Management 100%
MBAD Employee Share Opions Limited United Arab Emirates  Shares and Securites 10050
SAS 10 Magellan France Leasing 100F%
MBAD Global Muld-Strategy Fund! Cayman Island Fund Marnagement 100%
Mational Bank of Abu Dhabi Representagoes

Ltda Brazil Representative office 1005
MBAD Financial Markets (Cayman) Limited Cayrnan Islands Banking 100%

! under [iquidation

{if)  Structured entities
A struchured entity is established by the Group to perform a specific task. Structured entilies are designed so
that their aclivities are not govemed by way of voting rights. In assessing whether the Group acls as a
principal or has power over investees in which it has an interest, the Group considers factors such as the
purpose and design of the investee, its practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee; the
nature of its relationship with the investes; and the size of its exposure to the variability of retums of the
investes,

The Group acts as fund manager fo a mumber of investment funde. Determining whether the Group controls
such an investrment fund usually foouses on the assessment of the aggregate ecomomic interests of the Group
in the fund. Whilst assessing control, the Group reviews all facts and droumstances to determine whether asa
fund manager the Group is acting as agent or principal. If deemed to be a prindpal, the Group confrols the
fund and would consolidate them else as an agent the Group would acconmt for them as investments in
funds.

The Group’s interest in investrment funds which it manages is set out balow:

Type of Structured Entity
Investment Funds

Mature and purpose Interest held by the Group
Generate  fees from managing  Investments in units issued by
assets on behalf of third-party the fund amounting to AED
investors 154,472 thousand (31 December
2014: AEDSTO.924 thowsand)
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)

{a)  Basis of consolidation {continmed)

{iif)  Joint Arravgements and Invesiments in Associnles
An Associate is an investee over which the Group has significant influence, Sigrdficant influence is the power
to participate in the finandal and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control
aver those polidies. Investment in assodates are accounted under the equity method of accounting,

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of between the Group and other parties where the Group along with
one or more parties has joint contral by virtue of a contractual agreement. Joint arrangement may be a joint
operation or a joind venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
conirol of the arrangement have rights to and record their respective share of the assets, and obligations for
the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture 15 a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint condrol of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement and thus are accounted
under the equity method of accounting,

(i) Loss of comirol
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and Habilities of the subsidiary,
any non-confrolling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or
deficit ansing on the loss of contral is recogrnised in comsolidated statement of profit or loss, If the Group
retains ary interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value when control is lost.

fw)  Transackions eliminated on consofidation
The carrying amount of the Bank's investment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary is
eliminated on consolidation. All significant intra-group balances, and unrealised income and expenses
(except for fomign curtency transacHon gains or losses) arsing from vdra-group tansactions are eliminated
on consolidation. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is noevidence of Impairment.

{b} Financial assets and liabilities

{1} Recognition
The Group initially recognises loans and advances, Customer accounts and other deposits, debt securities and
subordinated notes on the date that they are originated. All other finandal assets and liabilities are initially
recognised on the consolidated statement of finandal position when, the Group becomes a party o the
contractual provisions of the instrioment. These are initially measured at fair valiee plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

Al regualar way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, ie. the date the
asset is deliverad to or received from the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of finandal assets are
these that requive delivery of assets within the fime frame generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

() Clasaification
(g} Fair value through profit or loss

(i) Designation at fair velue hrough profit or loss
The Group designates financial assets and liabilities at fair vahee through profit or loss when either:

*  fhe assets or liabilities are managed, evahmated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or

* the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.

(i) Held for irading
Trading assets are those assets that the Group acguires for the purpose of selling in the near term, or
hiolds as part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit taking,
Fair value through profit or loss assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition,
13
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)
(b} Financial assets and liabilities (confinued)

(i) Classification (continuead)

) Loars and recefvables
Loans and receivables includes cash and balances with central banks, due from bank and finandal
inshtutions, finance lease receivables, reverse repurchase agreements and loans and adwvances. These
are non-derivative financial assets with fived or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market and that the Group does notintend to sell immediately or in the near term.

(e} Held-to-maturify
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fived
maturity that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold o maturity,

d)  Available-for-sale
The Group has non-derivative financial assets designated as available-for-sale when these are not
classified as lans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. Available for sale assets are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and may
be sold in hrture to manage liquidity requirements or in response o market fluchsation in interest rates
or pricing of the financial assets.

e} Fingncial labilities
The Group dassifies its finandal liabilities, other than finandal guarantees and loan commitments, as
measured at amorfised cost or fair value through profit or loss,

(i) De-recognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights fo the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewarnds of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

The Group derecognises a financial lability when its confractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its comsolidated staternent of
financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or
a portion of them. In such fransactions, the transferred assets are not derecognised from the consoclidated
statement of financial position. Transfers of assets with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards
inchide repurchase transactions.

The Group also derecognises certain assets when it writes off balances pertaining to the assefs deemed to be
uncollectible.

(i)  Ofsciting
As per LAS 32, financial assets and labilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated
staternent of finandal position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and
infend efther to settle on a net bass, or to realise the asset and settle the hability sinultaneausly.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gaims and losses
arising from a group of similar transactions.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)
{b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

fr)  Amoriised cost messurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or lability is the amount at which the financial asset or lability is
measured at indtial recognition, minus prindpal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation
using the “effective interest rate / method” of any difference between the initial amount recogrdsed and the
maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exacily discounts estimated future cash receipis or payments
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, wheee appropeiate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amoumnt of the finandal asset or financial lability. When calculating the effective inferest rate, the
Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the finandal instrument but excluding future
cradit losses, The caladation indudes all amoints paid or received by Group that are an indegral part of the
effective interest rate of a finandal instrument, including fransaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.

fwil  Fair value peaserement
Fair vahwe is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid fo transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal. or in its absence, the most
advantageous market o which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects ifs non-

performance risk.

When applicable, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active
market for that nstrument. A market is regarded as actve if fransactioms for the asset or lability take place
with sulficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongeing basis,

When there 15 no quoted prce in an active market, the Group uses valuation techrdques that masximise the use
of relavant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobsarvable inputs. The chosen valuation technique
incorporates the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction,

The best evidence of the fair value of a finandal instrument at initial recogniion is normally the transaction
price — i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at
initial recogrition differs from the trarsachion price and the fair vahue is evidenced neither by a quoted price
in an active market for an identical asset or lability nor based on a valuation technique that uses ondy data
from observable markets, the financial instrument is initally measurad at fadr value, adjusted to defer the
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference
is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the
instrument but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the
transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assefs and
long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price,

Portfolios of finandal assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are
managed by the Group on the basis of the nel exposure {o either market or credit risk, are measured on the

basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position or paid to transfer a net short position for a
particular risk exposure,

The Group recognizes transfers between Jevels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting perod
during which the change has ocourred.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)
{b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Identification and measurement of impairment
An assessment is made at each reporting date and periodically during the year to determine whether there is
any objective evidence that financial assets not cartded at fair value thooigh profit of loss, are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence indicates that a loss event has ocourred after the initial
recognition of the asset and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be
estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assels ave impaired can indude significant financial difficulty of the
borrower o isguer, default or delinquency by a barrower, restruchuring of a loan or an advance by the Group
on terms that the Group would not otherwise conwsider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter
bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other observable data relating to a group
of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

The Group considers evidence of impairment at both spedfic and collective levels.  All individually
significant assets are assessed for spedfic impairment.  All individually significant assets found not o be
specifically impaired are required to be collectively assessed for any impainment that has been incurred but
not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by
grouping together financial assets with similar risk characteristics,

I agsessing collective impairment the Group uses the higher of 1.5% of credit Ask weighted asset computed
as per Central Bank of UAE guidelines and a statistical modelling which incorporates historical trends of the
probability of default, iming of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management's
judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely tobe
greater or lesser than suggested by historical modelling, Default rafes, loss rafes and the expected Himing of
future ecoveries are regularly benchmarked against achual outeomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the fnancial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the
original effeciive interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and reflected in an allowance account against such financial assets, When a subsequent event causes the
amount of impadoment 1oss to decrease, the decrease in impadrient loss is reversed thrmigh the consolidated
staternent of profit or loss,

Impairment losses on available-for-sale nvestrment securties are recognised by transferring the difference
between the amortised acguisition costs and current fair values out of other comprehensive income o the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss on
availlable-for-sale debt security to decrease, the impairment loss 15 reversed through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-
sale equity investment is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses on an unquoted equity instruments that are carried at cost because their fair value cannot
be reliably measured, are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the Ananclal assets ard
the present values of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of retum for similar
finandial assets. Such impairment losses shall not be reversed.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)
{c}  Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, balances
with central banks and due from banks and financial institutions with original maturities of less than three
months, which are subject fo msignificant osk of changes in fair value, and are used by the Group in the
management of its short-term commitrments.

Cash and cash equivalents are non-derivative financal assets stafed at amorhised cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(d)  Investments at fair value through profit or loss
These are finandal assets dassified as held for trading or designated as such upon indtial recognition.

Held for trading financial assets includes debt securities, treasury bills, equity securities, short positions in
gecurities and funds. They have been acquired or mmcurred principally for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term, or they form part of a portfolio of identified financial mstruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of shorl-term profit-taling, In addition,
denvatives that are not effective accoumting hedging instruments are carded at fair valee through profit or
loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss applies fo groupe of financial assets that are
managed, and their performances are evaluated, on a fair value basis in accordance with a doaumented risk
management or investment strategy.

These finandial assets are indtially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs
taken directly to the consclidated statement of profit or loss, All related realised and unrealised gains or
losses are included in net gain on investments,

(el  Due from banks and financial institutions
These ate non-derivative financal assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowance for impaimnent.
{fl  Reverse repurchase agreements

Asgsets purchased with a simultaneous commitment to resell ab a specified fuhire date are not recogrdsed, The
amount paid to the counterparty under these agreements is shown as reverse repurchase agreements in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between purchase and resale price is treafed as
interest imcome and accrued over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method,

{g} Loans and advances

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fived or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

Loars and advances indude loans and advances originated by the Bark which are not dassified as held for
trading or designated at fair vahie. Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to a borrower.
They are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations, or the loans are sold or written off.
These are initally measured at fair value (being the transaction price at incephon) plus incremental direct
transachon costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective inferest rate method,
adjusted for effective fair value hedges for the risk being hedged, net of interest suspended and provisions for
impairment.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significanl accounting policies (coniinued)
{gl Loans and advances i continued)

Loans and advances inchude direct finance provided to customers such as overdrafis, credit cards, term loans,
finance lease receivables and commercial bills,

When the Group is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee, the arrangement is classified as a finance lease and a
receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognised and presented within loans and advaneces. In
determining whether an arrangement is a lease, the Group ascertains the substance of the arrangement and
assesses whether the Fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assels and
whether the arrangement conveys a oght to use the assets,

th)  Islamic financing and investing contracts

The Bank engages in Shari'ah compliant Islamic banking activities through various Islamic instruments such
as ljara, Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala, These are accounted in accordance with IAS 39 - Financial
instrument: Recognition and Measurement.

{f) Definitioms

ljara
Tjara consists of ljara muntahia bitamleek.

ljara muntahia bitambeek is an agreement whereby the Group (the lessor) comveys to the customer (the
lessee), in retum for a specific rent, the right to use a specific asset for a specific period of ime, against
pavment of fixed perindical and variable rental. Under this agreement, the Group purchases or constructs the
asset and nents it to the customer. The contract specifies the leasing party and the amount and timing of rental
payments and responsibilities of both partes during the term of the lease. The customer provides the Group
with an undertaldng to settle the rental amount as per the agreed schedule.

The Group retains the ownership of the assets throughout the entire lease term. At the end of the lease term,
the Group sells the leased asset to the customer at a nominal value based on a sale undertaking by the Group.

Murabaha

An agreement whereby the Group sells (o a cuslomer a commdity and /or other assets, which the Group has
purchased and aoquired, based on promise received from the customer to buy the item purchased according
lo spedific terms and conditions. The selling price comprises the cost of the commodity and an agreed profit
margin

Mudaraba

A contract between the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab Al Mal) and the
other party (the Mudanb} invests the funds in a project or a particular activity and any generated profits are
distributed between the parties according o the profit shares that were pre-agreed upon in the contract. The
Mudarib is responsible for all losses caused by his misconduct, negligence or violation of the terms and
conditions of the Mudaraba; otherwise, losses are bome by Rab Al Mal.

Wakaia

An agreement whereby the Group provides a cerfain sum of money to an agent (Wakdal) who invests it in
Sharia’s compliant transactions according, to specific conditions in return for a certain fee (a lump sum of
money of a percentage of the amount invested),
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significanl accounting policies (coniinued)
thy Islamic financing and investing confracts {confinued)
(i) Revenwe recogrifion

Tjara
Income from ljara is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with
regard to its collectability.

Muralaha
Income from Murabaha is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such fime a reasonable doubt exisis
with regard to its collectability.

Miudaraba

Income or losses on Mudaraba financing are recognised on an accrual basis if they can be reliably estimated.
Oherwise, income is recognised on distribution by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on their declaration by the Mudarib,

Wakala
Estimated income from YWakala is recognised on an accrual basis over the perod, adjusted by actual income
when received. Losses are accounted for on the date of declaration by the agent.

{iy  Non-trading investments

Inchuded in non-trading mvestments are available-for-sale assets which are inifially recognised at fair valie
plus incremental transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition,

After inital recogration, these investments are re-measured at fair value. For imvestments which are not part
of an effective hedge relationship, unrealised gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive income
until the investment is derecognised or until the investnent is determined to be impaired, at which time the
curmulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive ncome, 15 mcladed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year, For investments which are part of an effective fair value hedge
relationship, any unrealised gain or loss arsing from a change in fair value is recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of the changes in fair value being hedged.

Interest income i recognised on available-for-sale debt securities using the effective interest rate, caloulated
over the asset's expected life. Premiums andfor discounts arsing on the purchase of debt investment
securities are incuded in the caladation of their effective interest rates. Dividends on equity instruments age
recogrised in the statement of profit or loss when the right to receive payment has been established.

For the purpose of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses, an available-for-sale fnandal asset is
treated as if it were carried at amortised cost in the foreign currency. Accordingly, for such a finandial asset,
exchange differences are recognised in the consoldated statement of profit or loas,

For unquoted equity investments where fair value cannot be reliably measured, these are carried at cost less
provision for impairment in value. Upon de-recognition, the gain or loss on sale is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit of 1oss for the year.

Included in non-trading investments are held-to-maturity assets which are non-derivative assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fived maturity and that the Group has the posttive intent and ability to hold
them till maturity. These are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs,
and are subsequently measured at amortsed cost using the effective interest rate method, less any

imparrment losses,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significanl accounting policies (coniinued)
{it}  Non-trading investments {confinued)

A sale or redlassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity nvestments would result in
the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, and would prevent the Group
from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial
yvears However, sales and redassificabions in any of the following drcumstances would not togger a
reclassification:
¢ sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of interest
would not have a significant effect on the financial asset's fair value;
¢ sales or reclassifications after the Group has collected substantially all of the assets original
principal; and
+ sales or reclassifications that are attributable to nos-recurring isolated events beyond the Group's
cortrol that could not have been reasonably anticipated.

{ji  Investment properties

(i) Recognifion and measurement
Investment properties are properties held either to eam rental income or for capital appredation or for both,
but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment properes are measured at cost as per the cost model under
LAS 40- Investment property. Cost inchides expenditiiee that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
asset.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its original cost
and the current carrying amount at the date of redassification continue to be the cost and carrying amount of
the asset for measurement and disdosures.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal,

Any income or expenses on the mvestment properties are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in other operating income or other operating expense respectively.

(if) Depreciation
Depreciation s recognised in the consolidated staternent of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of investment properties. The estimated useful lives of investment properties for the

current period are as follows:
Buildings and villas 20040 50 years
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at every reporting date,

{iif) Impairsent

The carrying amounts are reviewed at each reporting date for indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash
generating unit 15 the greater of its value m use and ifs fair vahee less costs to sell. In assessing vahte in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present vahue using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks spedfic to the asset. An impairment loss
is recognised in the consolidated staterment of profit or loss to the extent that carrying values do not exceed
the recoverable amounds,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)
{k} Property and equipment

(il Recogrifion and measerenient
All items of properety and equipment are measured at cost less acoumulated depreciation and impaiement
losses, if any. Capital projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regularly tested for impairment

and upon completion are transferred fo the appropriate category of property and equipment and thereaffer
depreciated,

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software
that is integral to the Rinctionality of the telated equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of properly and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within
other operating income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditures are only capitalised when it is probable that the futiire economic benefits of such
expenditures will flow to the Group. On-going expenses are charged to consclidated statement of profit or
Ioss asincurned.

fif) Deprecintion
Diepreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of all property and equipment. Freehold land and capital work i progress are not
depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative period are as follows:

Buildings and villas 20 10 50 years
Olfice furniture and aquipment 105 years
Alterations to premises 10 years
Safes 10 ta 20 years
Computer systems and equi pment 3to7 years
WVehidles 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are seassessed at every reporting date.

(iif) Caprital work in progress
Capital work in progress assets are assets in the course of constructon for production, supply or
admirdstrative purposes, are carned at cost, Jess any recogrised impairment loss, Cost includes all direct cost
attributable to design and construction of the property capitalised in accordance with Group's accounting,
policy. When the assets are ready for the intended wuse, the capital work in progress is transferred to the
appropriate property and equipment category and is depredated in accordance with the Group's policies.

i) Impairntent

The carrying amounis are reviewed at each reporting date for indication of impaitment. If any such
indication exists then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair vahse less costs to sell. In assessing vahie in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the ime value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is recognised in the consolidated statemment of profit or loss to the extent that carrying vahzes do not exceed
the recoverable amounts,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)
(Il Collateral pending sale

Feal estate and other collaterals may be acquired as the result of settlement of certain loans and advances and
are recorded as assets held for sale and reported in “Other assets”. The asset acquived i5 recorded at the
lower of its fair value less costs o sell and the carrying amount of the loan (net of impairment allowance) at
the dafe of exchange. MNo depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for sale. Any subsequent write-
down of the acquired asset to fair value less costs to sell is reconded as an impairment loss and included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.  Any subsequent increase in the fair valee less costs to sell, to the
extent this does not exceed the cumulative impairment loss, is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The Geoup's collateral disposal policy is in line with the respective regulatory requirement of
the regions in which the Group operates.

{m} Due to banks and financial institutions, Customer accounts and other deposits and euro
commercial paper

Dhze to banks and finandal institutions, customer deposits and euro commercial paper are finandal liabilites
and are mitially recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their
amortised cost using the effective inferest rate method.

{n} Repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simuiltaneous commitment to repurchase at a spaafied future dafe are not derecognised.
The liability fo the counterparty for amounts received under these agreements is shown as repurchase
agreements in the comsolidated staternent of finandal posiion. The difference between sale and repurchase
price is treated as interest expense and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method,

{o}  Term borrowings and subordinated notes

Tenmn borrowings and subordinated notes incude converdble notes that can be converted into share capital at
the option of the holder, where the number of shares issued do not vary with changes in their fair value, are
accounted for as compound finamcial instnuments. The equity component of the convertble notes is
calculated as the excess of issue proceeds over the present value of the future interest and prindpal payments,
discounded at the marlet rate of interest applicable {o similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option.

Term borrowings and subordinated notes without conversion option are financial labilities and are initally
recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method and adjusted to the extent of fair value changes for the nisks being

hedged.
{p} Share option scheme

On the grant date fair value of options granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as stafl cost,
with a coresponding increase in equity, over the period required for the staff fo become unconditionally
entitled to the options.  The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share
optons for which the related service conditions are expected fo be met; as such the amount ulimately
recognised as an expense is based on the number of share options that do meet the related service and non-
market performance conditions at the vesting date. These shares may contribute o the caloulation of dilutive
EPS once they are deemed as potential ordinary shares,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)

(g} Interest

Inferest income and expense are recogrised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective
interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipis
or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the finandal asset or finandal liability. When calculating the effective inferest rate,
the Group estimates cash flows considering all condractual terms of the finandal instrument but exduding
future credit losses. The caleulation mcludes all amounts paid or received by Group that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, including transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounds, Transacton costs inchade incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of a financial asset or labilify.

Interest income and expense presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss include:

* intereston financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis,
interest on available-for-sale investment securities on an effective interest rate basis.
interest om held for trading securities and derivative finandial instnuments on an effective interest rafe
basiz,

{r}  Depositors’ share of profit

Depositors” share of profit is amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in
the form of wakala and mudaraba depostts and recogrised as expenses in the consolidated statement of profit
or logs. The amounts are calaulated in acoordance with agreed terms and conditioms of the wakala deposits
and Sharia’a prindples.

{8}  Fee and commission

The Group earmns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services provided to its customers, The
basis of accounting treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are
collected and accordingly the revenue is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fee and
commission incomae is accountad for as follows:

income earned from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided;
income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed;
income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a finandal imstrumnent is recognised
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in “Interest income”.

Fee and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees which ane expensed as the services
are received.

() Zakat
Zakat represents islamic business zakat payable by the Group on behalf of its shareholders to comply with

the prindples of Shana'a and is approved by the Sharia’a Supervisory Board. The Group's appointed fakat
Comumnities is mandated fo recommend zakat distribution.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)

{u} Net gain on investments and derivatives

Net gain on investments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments
at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives, realised gains and losses on non-trading investments and
dividend icootme,

Met gain or loss on investment at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives inchides net trading income
and net mcome  from investments designated at fair value, Met trading income comprises of all gains and
losses from changes in the fair value of finandal assets and financial Habilities held for trading,

Mon-trading mvestiment inchides available for sale and held to matuty instruments,

Gains and losses ansing from changes in fair value of available for sale assets are recognised in the statement
of other comprehensive income and recorded in fair value reserve with the exception of impairment losses,
interest caloulated using the effective interest rate method and foreign exchange gains and losses on
monetary assets which are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Where the
investment i5 sold or realised, the cumulabive gain or loss previcusly recogrised in equity under fair vahie
reserve is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

Held to maturity investments that are not close to their maturity are not ordinarily sold. However when they
are sold or realised, the gain or loss is recognised in the consclidated staternent of profit or Joss,

Dividend income is recognised when the nght to receive payment is established.
(v} Foreign currency

{e) Foreign currency fransactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currendes of the Group entities
at spot exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Meonetary assets ard HabiliSes denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the
functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. Mon-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transacton. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary ftems is the difference between
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the perod, adjusted for effective interest and
payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the
end of the period. Foreign currency differences arsing on retranslation are recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss,

{if)  Foreign operations

The activities of subsidiaries and branches based outside the UAE are not deemed an integral part of the head
office operabions, as they are finandally and operationally independent of the head office. The assets and
liabilities of the subsidiaries and overseas branches are translated into UAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at
the reporting date. Income and expense ilems are translated al average rates, as appropriate, Exchange
differences (inchuding those on transactions which hedge such investments) arsing from retranslating the
opening net assets, are taken directly to foreign cumency translaion adjustment account in other
comprehensive income,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significanl accounting policies (coniinued)
{w) Overseas income tax expense

Income tax expense is provided for in accordance with fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which
the Group operates and is recognised in the consolidated stalement of profit or loss. Income fax expense is
the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
atthe reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for finandal reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferrad tax is not
recognised for the following, temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the inital recognition
of assets of habilities in a transachon that is not a business combination and that affects neither acommbing
not taxable profit or Joss, and differences relating fo investments in subsidiaries to the evtent that they
probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measuned af the tax rates that are expectad
ta apply to the pedod when the asset is realised or the liabdlity is seftled, based om laws that have been
enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset 18 recogrased only to the extent that it is probable that future faxable profits wall be
available againgt which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

{x) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised, and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs taken
directly to the consolidated statement of profit or less. The fadr value of a derivative is the equivalent of the
unrealised gain or loss from marking to market the derivative or using valuation techniques, maindy
discounted cash flow models.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held
for trading, or is designated as a hedging imstrument and, if so, the nature of the rsk being hedged, All gains
and losses from changes in fair vahie of dedvatives held for trading are recognised in the consolidated
staterment of profit or loss. When derivatives are designated as hedges, the Group dassifies them as either: (i)
fair vahue hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (i)
cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recogrised asset or Hability or a highly probable forecast transaction; (iii) hedge of net
investment which are accounted similarly to a cash flow hedge, Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met.

Embedded derivetfves

Dervatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for
an embedded derivative separately from the host contract when the host contract 5 not itself carried at fair
value through profit or loss, the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if
they were oontained in a separafe contract, and the ecomomic characteristic and risks of the embedded
derivative are not dosely related to the economic characleristics and risk of the host contract. Separated
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit oe loss
unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investrnent hedging relationship, and are presented
separately from host contract in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (coniinued)

(x})  Derivative financial instraments and hedging (confinued)

Hedge accounfing

It is the Group’s policy to document, at the inception of a hedge, the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as sk management obpective and strategy. The policy also fequires
documentation of the assessment, at inception and on an on-going basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge,

The Grongp makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge reladonship as well as on an on-going
basis, as to whether the hedging instrument(s) is(are} expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes
in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged em(s) during the period for which the hedge is
desigrated, and whether the achial results of each hedge are within a range of 80-125 percent. The Group
makes an assesament for a cash flow hedge of a forecast fransaction, as to whether the forecast transaction is
highly probable to oocur and presents an exposune to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect
profit or loss,

Fair value hedge

In relation to fair value hedges, any gain or loss from rée-measuring the hedging instrnuiment to fair value, as
well as related changes in fair value of the ftem being hedged, are recognised immediately in the consolidated
staternent of profit or loss together with the changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable
to the hedged risk. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, Any adjustment up to that period to the
hedyged ifem for which effechive interest rate method was used is amertised to the consolidated staternent of
profit or loss as a part of the recalculated effective imferest rate of the then hadged item over its remaining life.

Cash flow hedge

In relation to effective cash flow hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised mitially in
other comprehensive income and transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the pedod in
which the hedged transachion impacts the consolidated staternent of profit or loss. Gains or losses, if any,
relating to the ineffective portion, are recogrised immediately in the consolidated statement of peofit or loss.
If the hedged fransaction is no lnger expected to occur, the net camulative gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Met investnenis hedges

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financdial liability is designated as the hedging instniment
in a hedge of a net investiment in a foredgn operation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair vahie of
the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income in the translation reserve. Amny
ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the
consolidated staterment of profit or loss. The amount recognised under other comprehensive income is
reclassified to statement of profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation,

Other derivaifves

All gains and Iosses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge aceounting or
are not desigrated as such are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a
component of net gain on investrments and derivatives or net foreign exchange gain.

{¥} Provisions
A provision 15 recognised if, as a vesult of a past event, the Group has a present legal or construchive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to setfle the obligafion. Where the effect of time vahie of money is material, provisions are

determined by discounting the expected future cash flows, at a pre-tax rate, that reflects current market
assessments of the Hme value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significanl accounting policies (coniinued)
{z} Employees’ end of service benefit

Diefined contribution plen

A defined contribution plan is a post - employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fived
contributions into a separate entify or fo a government organisation and will have no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recogrised as an emploves benefit expense in consolidated statement of profit or loss in the penods during
which services are rendered by employees.

Pension and national insurance confributions for eligible employees are made by the Bank to Pensions and
Benefits Fund in aceordance with the applicable laws of country where such contributions are made,

Diefined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a post - employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The
liability recognised in the statement of finandal position in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period together with adjustments
for unrecognised past - service costs, The defined benefit obligation is caleculated annually by independent
actuaries using the projected undt credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high - quality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating to the teoms of the related pension obligation.

Eemeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuaral gains and losses, the refurn on
plan assets (exchiding inberest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised
immediately in OCL Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised
in Staff cost in consolidated staternent of profit or loss. When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a
plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment
is recognised immediately to profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a
defined benefit plan when the settlement ooours,

{aa} Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant fo Article 118 of the Commercial Companies Law Mo, 8 of 1984 and in accordance with the Bank's
Articles of Association, Directors” shall be entifled for remuneration which shall not exceed 10 % of the net
profits after deducting depredation, reserves and distobution of dividends not less than 5% of capital to
shareholders,

{ab} Fiduciary activities

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group as they are only held in trust wheee
the Group acts as a custodian on customers” behalf. The Group has no liability or obligations towards the
customer on these assets held in trust . Accordingly, these assets are not induded in these consolidated
financial staternents,

{ac) Earnings pershare

The Group presents basic and diluted eamings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares, Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted
average number of ardinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS s determined by adjusting the
profit or loss atiributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and
share optons granted to staff.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)
{ad} Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make spedified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it imcurs because a spedfied party fails to meet its obligation when due in accordance with the
confractual terms.

Certain financial guarantes contracts in the nature of credit default guarantess are not held for proprictary
trading purposes and are treated as insurance contracts and accounted for under IFRS 4.

Faor other finandal guaraniee coniracts, these are initally recognised at their fair value (which is the premium
received on issuance) The received premitim is amortised over the life of the finandal guarantee, The
guarantes liability is subsequently carred at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of
any expected payment (when a payment under the guarantee has become probable). The premium received
on these finandal guarantees is included within other liabilities.

{ae} Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may eam
revenues and inour expenses, incduding revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Group's other components, All operating segments” operating resuls are reviewed regularly by the Group’s
Chief Executive, being the chief operating dedsion maker, to make decisions about resources to be allocated
to the segment and &0 assess its performance for which discrete Anancial information is avadlable. Segment
resulis that are reported to the Group Chief Executive inchade items directly atiributable to a segrnent as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

{af) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of
the total lease expense, over the term of the lease,

{ag) New standards and interpretations not yel adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued that are
applicable to the Group but are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2015, and have not been
applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:

IFES 15 Revenue from contracis with customer: issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFES 15 revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. It replaces existing all revenue
recognition guidance, inclhuding IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC
Custoaner loyalty Programmes.

IFRS 15 is effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoplion

peomitted. The Group is assessing potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial
statements,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)

{ag) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted {continued)

a516/38 IAS 16 and [AS 38 clanfies that revenue wreflects a pattern of economic benefits that are
generated from operating a business {of which the asset is part) rather than the economic
benefits that are consumed through use of the asset As a result a revenue-based method
cannot be used to depredate properly, plant and equipment and may only be used in very
limited droumstances to amortise intangible assets,

The amendeents are effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016, with early adoption permitied. These amendments are not expected {o have any impact to
the Group given that the Group has not used a revenueé-based method to depreciate its non-
current assets,

[FES 2 IFRS 2, published in July 2014, replaces the existing guidance in [AS 3% Finandal Instnaments:
Recogniion and Measurement IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and
measurement of  financial instruments, including a new expected credit loss model for
caloulating  impairment on  finandal assets, and the new general hedge accountng
requirements, It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial
mstruments from 1AS 3. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied
prospectively, with some limited exceptions.

IFRS 9 is effective for anmual penod beginning on or after 1 January 2018, However, early
application of [FES 9 is permitted.

The Group has started the process of evaluating the potential effect of this standard. Given the
nature of the Group’s operations, this standard is expected to have a pervasive impact on the
Group's financial statements,

1A527 IAS 27 will allow entities to use the equity methed to account for investments in subsidiaries,
joint venfures and associates in their separate fnancial stafements. Entiies already applying
IFES and electing to change to the equity method in ifs separate finandal statements will have
to apply that change retrospectively.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with
early adoption permitted. These amendments will not have any impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statemnens.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

These improverments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Januwary 2016 They include:

IFES 5 Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to
owners. The amendment clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other
would not be considered a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan.
There is, therefore, no interruption of the application of the reguirements in IFRS 5 This
amendment must be apphied prospectively.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (conifnued)

{ag) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted {continued)

IFRS 7 The amendment clarifies that in a servidng confract an enbity must assess the nature of the fee
and the arrangement against the guidance for continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to
assess Whether the disdosiees are reduiited. The assessment of which servicng contracts miist be
done retrospectively. However, the required disclosures are required when the entity first
applies the ameand ments.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to
condensed interim financial statements, unless such disclosures provide a significant update to
the information reported in the most secent anmual report. This amendment mmist be applied

retrospectively.

1as19 The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on
the currency in which the cbligation is denominated, rather than the country where the
obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that
currency, govermment bond rates must be used. Thas amendment st be applied prospectively.

la534 The amendment clarifies that the required interim discdosures must either be in the interim
financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial staternents
and wherever they are incduded within the interim financdial report. The other information within
the interim finandal report must be available fo users on the same terms as the imferim financial
statements and at the same time. This amendment must be applied retrospectively.

Las1 The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify existing LAS 1
requirements. The amendments clarfy:

- The materiality requirements in [AS 1

#  Those specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and OCT and the statement of
HAramedal position that may be disaggregated

#  that entities have flexibility to arrange the order in which they present the notes to financial
statements

- That the share of OCI of assodates and joint venfures accounted for using the equity
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and dassified between those
itemna that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are
presented in the staternent of financial posifion and the statement of profit or loss and OCTL

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with
early adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial risk management
Introduction and overview

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks inherent in carrying out ifs business activities. Prncipal nisks
inchide credit, market (traded and non-traded interest rate and foreign cureency related risks), liquidity and
funding, capital, operational, and business continuify. The Group has institutionalized a risk management
framework which seeks to effectively manage these risks.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above nsks, alomg with an overview
of relevant frameworks, policies and processes for measuring and managing these risks,

Risk managesent framework

The Board of Directors (the “Board™) has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s misk management framework and they are assisted by two board committees (Risk Management
Committes and Audit Comvmittee), and fwo managemen! committees (Group Risk Commitiee ("GRC”) and
Group Assets and Liabilities Committee (“G-ALCOM}).

¢  The Risk Maragement Committee (FMC), comprising of membsers from the Board, is responsible foe
recommending and sefting the Group's risk strafegy and policy guidelines, and subsequently
monitoring adherence. RMC takes credit decisions above management’s discretionary powers, defines
risk limits within which the Group's management operates and also monitores the overall risks for the
Group.

«  The Audit Committee, a board level committee, evercises oversight to monitor compliance with
regulatory guidelines and the Bank's infermal policies and procedures.

The management committees are responsible for implementing the risk management framework, The major
funchions of the fwo management committees are given below:

«  The GEC is accountable to the Board EMC in respect of all Risk Management facets within the Group.
The primary function of the comeniftes is to ensure that the Bank's policies and procedures incorporate
sound risk management practices and that the same are implemented. It also reviews, and recommends
to the Board, the dsk appetite, risk limits, dsk aspects of business strategy and plarming, and approves
risk policies & analytical models to ensure effective risk management.

¢  The GALCO is the driving force and key decsion maker behind the struchire and quality of the
balance sheet. The G-ALCO is directly accountable to the Board RMC for ensuring that the risks within
the Group Asset and Liability position are prudently managed by way of strong Bank policy and
procedures and an appropriate tisk framework The G-ALCO must be constantly aware of and acively
managg these risks and their potential impact on the Banks business and strategic objectives,

The Group manages risk using three lines of defence comprising of business undts, contral units and Internal
Audit. Buginess units, as the first line of defence, identify and manage risk in their day-to-day activities by
ensuring that activities are within the Group’s risk appetite and are in compliance with all relevant intemal
policies and processes, Risk Group (comprising head office risk and risk functions embedded in business
divisions) and Legal & Compliance division, as the second line of defence, establishes risk controls
camprising of policies and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge to the frst
line of defence. The Group Chief Risk Officer (“GCRO") has a divect reporting line to Board EMC fo ensure
the independence of Risk Group from business, nternal audit, as the third line of defence, provides assuranoe
to management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk management practices employed by the first fwo
lines of defence, The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reporting line to the Board Audit Committee.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial risk management (coniinued)

{a)  Credit risk

Credit risk s the risk that a customer or counterparty o a financial asset fails to meet its contractual
obligations and cause the Group to incur a financial loss. It adses prindpally from the Group’s loans and
advances, due from banks and financial institutions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-frading debt
investments, derivative financial instriuments and certain other assets.

For risk maragement purposes, cradit risk arising on trading investments is managed independently, and
reported as a component of market risk exposure.

Management of credit risk

The Group uses an internal risk rating system to assess the credit quality of corporate borrowers and
counterparties. Each corporate borrower is assigned a rating, including classified accounts, The dsk rating
system has 11 grades, further segregated into 24 notches. Grades 1-8 are performing and Grades 9 -11 are non
= performing, Mon-performing grades are classified based on the below criteria:

Criteria
Grade Classification
Corporate loans Retail loans
Siibw Areears 90 days or more and shows some Arrears 90 days or mone
9 standard loss due to adwverse factors that hinder
loans repayment
Doubtfisl Based on available information, Al Arrears 120 days or more
10 —_— recovery seems doublful, leading fo a
loss an portion of these loans
Probability of no recovery; after all Arrcars 180 days or more

11 Loes loans
available courses of action are exhausted

The Performing loan portfolio of the Group based on the internal credit ratings s as follows:

Rating grade Performing loans and advances
2015 204
AEDDOD AELX 000
1-4 152,733,360 126477 638
5-6 26,664,666 3930088
d 19,143,544 24.611,025
8 3,865,084 1465622
Retail programme lending 23,785,229 18302557
206,191,883 194,786,970

In addifion, the Group manages credit risk by obtaining collateral where appropriate and lmiting the
duration of exposure. In certain cases, the Group may also dose out transactions or assign them to other
counterparties to mitigate credit risk. Credit risk in respect of derivative finandal instruments is limited to
those with positive fair valaes,

Credit risk arising from other financial instruments is managed by assigning limils, diversification of
investment achvities, limiting concenfration of exposure to industry sectors, geographical locations and
counferparties.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial risk management {coniinied)
{a)  Credit risk (continsed)
[mpairment:

The Group measures its exposure to credit dsk by reference to the gross camrying amount of finandal assets
less ammmits offset, interest suspended and impairment losses, if any. The camying amomt of financial
aszets represents the masdmmim credit exposure,

De from banks and
financial institutions

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
AEDDDD AEDY 00 AEDT00 AED D0 AEDrpoD AEDDO0

Loans and advances Non-trading investments

Individually npaired

Substandard . - 1,750,262 2,271,333 . :

Croubtéul 718 718 2347374 1649271 3,342 5342

Loss : £ 2785672 3,364,751 i i

Gross ameound T8 718 6,453,308 285385 3342 3342

Interest suspended - - (1,056,665} (1,124,859 = o

Spedfic allowance :
for impairment {715} {718) {2,087 568} (3,122, 770) - -

Carrying armount - - 3,759,075 3,057 650 3.2 342

Past due but not impaired

Past duwe comgrrizes:

Less than 30 days . - 342,240 153,436 - -
31 - 60 days - - 608,016 151313 - -
6190 days . = 272,667 177.448 : -
More than 90 days . - 03,653 1,161,766 - :

Carrying amount - - 1,526,636 1,643,963 - -

MNeither past due nor

impadrad 10,581,768 11,134 262 20,365,247 193,143 0057 63,750,509 BT AR89, TR0
Collective allowance

tor impairment - - 40erAns)  (3545314) = z
Carrying amoint 10,891,768 15,134,262 205,913,553 194,270,352 63,794,151 67,493, 122

Non trading investment indudes investment in equity instruments amounting to AED 36.2 million {2074: AED
35.9 million) which does not carry credit risk .

The category of neither past due nor impaired includes renegotiated loans amounting to AED 2,673 million
{2004: AED 1,302 million).

i3
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial risk management (coniinued)
{a)  Credit risk {continmed)

Irmpaired loans and advances and non-frading invesfmenis

Impaired loans and advances and non-trading investments are financial assets for which the Group
determines that it is probable that 3 will be unable to collect all prindpal and inferest due according to the
contractual terms of the agreements.

Past due buf not impaired

Past due but not impaired are accounis where either contractual principal or interest are past due and when
the accounts show weakness in the borfower’s financial position and creditworthiness, and requires morse
than normal attention. Such wealkness is specifically monitored to ensure that the quality of the asset does not
further deteriorate. On this dass of asset the Group believes that specific impairment is not appropriate at the
current condition.

Loans with renegotiated terms

Loaris with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borower's
financial position and where the Group has made material concessions that it would not otherwise consider.
Onee a loan is restructured, it remains in this category for a mirdomum period of twelve months, in order to
establish satisfactory track record of performance under the restnicturing agreement. The Bank determines
the twelve-month period o commence from the date of signing of the agreement for restructuring. On this
class of asset the Group believes that spedfic impairment may not be required. In the last twelve months, the
Group has renegatiated the following exposures:

2015 2014
AED D00 AED000
Renegotiated loans 2673245 1,301,737
Movement of remegotiated loans during the year
2015 2014
AEDDO0 AED000
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,301,787 1925914
Upgraded to neither past due nor
impaired during the year (586,357) (1,672.761)
Downgraded to individually impaired
or past due but not impaired during the year (526,770) (3,946)
Additions during the year 485,213 1,052 580
Balance at the end of the year 2,673,243 1,301,787
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial risk management (coniinued)
{a)  Credit risk {continmed)

Allowvances for impairment

The Group establishes an allowanoe for inpaiement Iogses on assets carried at amortised cost that reprasents
its estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss
component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss allowance. In assessing the
collective loss allowance, the Group uses the higher of 1.5% of credit risk weighted assels computed as per
the cenfral bank guidelines or incurred but not identified model, established for groups of homogeneous
assets with similar risk characheristics that are indicative of the debtor’s ability to pay amounts due according
o the contractisal terms on the basis of a credit risk evaluation or geading process that considers asset type,
industry, geographical location, collateral type, past due status and other relevant factors. Future cash flows
in a group of financal assets that are collectively evaluated for impairmernt are estimated on the basis of
historical loss expedence for assets with credit risk characteristics simdlar to those in the group.

Individually assessed loans are required to be classified as impaired as soon as there is objective evidence
that an impairment loss has been incurmed. Objechive evidenoe of imparrment inchides observable data such
as when contractual payment of prindpal or interest is overdue and there is known difficulties in the cash
flows of counterparties, credit rating downgrades or ordginal terms of the contractual repayment are unable
to be met.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a loan or investment balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when it
determines that the loans or investments are uncollectible. This is determined after all possible efforts of
collecting the amoints have been exhausted.

Cotiateral

The Group holds varous types of collateral against loans and advances and reverse repurchase agreement in
the form of morigage interests over property, other securities, cash deposits and guarantees. The Group
accepts sovereign guarantees and guarantees from well reputed local or international banks, well established
lacal or multinational large corporate and high net-worth povate individuals. When calculating provisions,
discount factors as defined by the Central Bank of the UAE are applied to market vahme of the collateral.
Collateral generally is not held against due from banks and financial institutions, and no such collateral was
held at 31 December 2015 or 2014,

An estmate of the collateral coverage against non-performing loans and advances (mcluding Islamic

financing) is shown below:
2015 2014
AEDDO0 AEDY000
Collateral value cover
0—50% 220757 2,996,388
50 = 100% 1,164 453 1,585,044
Above 100% 3491477 2,703,923
Total Gross non-performing loans 5,883 308 7285355

Drring the year 2015 and 2014, the Group repossessed an instgnificant amount of collateral that was held as
security against loans and advances,

The Group mondtors concentrations of credit risk by industry sector, counterparty and geographic location
An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is shown below:
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
+ Financial risk management (confinued)
fa} Credit risk (continued)

Classification of frading securities and non-frading inpesfments as per thetr external rafings:

MNon-trading investments Investments at fair value through
profitorloss

2015 2014 2015 2014
AEL¥ODD AEDY0 AEDFDOD AEDYDR0
AAA 8,737,990 16,882 953 215,396 43,645
AAtoA 43,655 663 41206783 7,603,105 11,067 470
BEE to B 10,037,106 6669819 2475005 2,202,910
Unrated 1,363,302 2. 733567 1,997,632 2,111,637
63,704,151 67 493,122 12,291,138 15,425,662

Unrated imvestments primarily consist of investments in Government related entifes and investments in
equities and funds, Investments at fair value through profit or logs are neither past due nor impaired.

Classification of frading securities and non-frading invesiments as per their counterparties:

Non-trading investments Investments at fair value through
profit orloss

2015 2014 2015 2014
AELYDOD AED000 AELYDOD AEDF0O0
Covernmment sector 20,024,003 25255217 916,156 1377415
Supranational 370,400 237,073 1,569,128 1,840,510
FPublic sector 18,508,451 15,833,102 2,820,260 2015112
Banking sector 21,276,123 18,303,585 5,000,856 7053997
Corporate [ private sector 3,815,104 3,864,145 1,984,738 2,203,628
63,794,151 67493122 12,291,138 15425662

Setflement rigk

The Group's activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement
risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to homour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or
other assets as contractually agreed. Any delay in seftlement is rare and monitored.

Derivative related credif risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default
on its contractual chligations and is limited to the positive market valie of instruments that are favourable to
the Group, The positive market value is also referred to as the "replacement cost” since it is an estimate of
what it would cost to replace transacions at prevailing market rates if a counterparty defaults. The majority
of the Group’s derivative contracts are enfered into with other banks and finandial instibitions.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Financial risk management (continued)
(b} Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, including derivatives and other off-
balance sheet commitments, not being matched in curtency, size, and term, thereby oreating Arancing reeds
which potentially cannot be met without incurring substantially higher costs or at any cost at all

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group is unable to meet its finandal obligations as and when they
fall due or that it can only do so at an excessive cost,

Maeragement of Hqeidify risk

The Group has defined the lhiguidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Group has a controlled
liquidity risk position with adequate cash or cash-equivalents to be able to meet its financdial obligations, in all
foreseeable droumstances and without incurring substantial addiional costs, for a rolling period of three
months,

The liquidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with cureent and
proposed liquidity regulation from both domestic and international regulators, and aligned to support the
Group’s external credit rating objectives.

Liguidity limits are defined at the Group level and are cascaded down throughout the organisation to ensure
that the Group complies with the defined Group Liquidity Risk appetite. International limits are cascaded to
ensure comphance with any additional local regulatory requirements on Hquidity management.

At Group level 10 Liquidity metrics have been defined which need to be consistently adhered o, These
include Central Bank of the UAE Regulatory requirements as well as Basel I liguidity ratios,

Al ligpuidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO.

Exposire to Mpuidity risk
The contractual asset and liability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group's retention
history is detailed below.

30
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial risk management (continued)
e} Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Group’s ncome and / or value of a fimancial instnament will fhretuate because of
changes in market factors such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and market prices of
equity and commodity,

Management of markel risk

The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading and nom-trading portfolios. Trading
portfolios are held by the Wholesale - Global Markets Division, together with fAnandal assets and financial
liabilities that are managed on a fair valus basis.

Owerall authority for market risk is vested in the Group Risk Committee (GRC) and Group Asset & Liability
Committee (G-ALCO}, which sets limits for each type of dsk in aggregate and for specific portfolios. Risk
Group is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and
approval by the GRC).

Exposure to market risks — trading portfolios

The princdpal analytcal tool used to measure and control market sk exposure within the Group’s trading
partfolios which comprise of investments at fair value through profit or loss and trading derivatives is Value
at Risk (“VaR"). The VaR of a trading portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a
specified period of tme (holding period) from an adverse market movement with a specified probability
(confidence levell The VaR model uses historical sitmulation based on a 99% condidence level and assumes a 1-
day holding period. Using market data from the previous two years, and observed relaionships between
different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible future scenaros for market price
maverments,

Thie Group uses Val limits for foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread. The overall struchsre of VaR
limits is subject to review and approval by the GRC. VaR limits are allocated to frading portfolins.

Val iz driven by actual historical observations and hence, itis not an estimate of the masdmom loss that the Group
could experience from an extremse market event. As a result of this limitation the VaR is further supplemented
with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits fo address potential concentration risks within
each trading portfolio. Moreover the trading activity at Group and desk level #8 subject to Management Acon
Triggers (“MAT”) that are limits on maximum losses that trigger actions from management. The VaR is as follows:

As at Average MEnimm Maximum

2015 M4 015 2004 2ms 2014 n1s 2014
AEDFDm AEDMI0 AEDDM AEDNN] AELY 000 AEDNDD AEDFOM AEDN

VaR - Trading Book 16,9584 B315 12220 12,115 7.023 5332 24,505 25123
Foreign exchange 15131 1809 9220 2388 46 M7 22828 TAT4
Interest Rate 6549 7560 6663 9749  S204 4656 11011 16856
Credit 3569 4,191 3,618 5346 1,910 1430 5346 14719

Diversification benefit (8,565  (5.245) (7281)  (5.368) @27) (1001) (14377) (15.626)

Equity and commodity risks are not currently captured in the VaR model, These are under regular monitoring
by the Risk Group fhrough a set of market risk sensitivities, notional limits, and management action triggers,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial risk management (continued)
{14 Market risk (confinued)

Exposure to market risk = banking portfolios

Exposure to Market Risk in the banking portfolios which comprise of non-trading investments, reverse
repurchase agreements and certain derivative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments anises
primarily from the investment porifolios, interest rate gaps in the banking book, and the Group’s overall FX
positions,

The prindpal analyviical tool used fo measure and contrel the investment risk expesure within the Group is
Value at Risk ("VaR" ). The VaR model is the same as the one used for the frading portfolios. The Group uses
VaR limits for controlling the overall investment risk, inchuding foreign exchange, interest rate and credit

spread, The overall structure of VaR himits is subject to review and approval by the GRC. VaR limits are
allocated to different Investment portfolics. The investment risk VaR was as follows:

As at Averags Mingmum Mimcirnum

2015 204 2015 2004 2ms 2014 2015 2014
AETFOOD  AEDWOO0  AEDVOOD  AETFO0D  AEDYOND  AEIFODD  AEDMOND  AEDVO00

VaR - Bariking Book 97072 B1943  S4105 89735 S0546 T2958 103427 117433
Foreign exchange 14,591 1,455 8219 2,812 1,579 1,058 21,576 6,953
Inferest Rate 29071 27779 114639 18540 13209 10,896 3585 41,853
Credit 95,737 82012 m4952 93639 57904 T9998 99775 115004

Diversification benefit  (42,327) (20203) (30,705) (25256) (13,146) (18,994) (48809) (49,375)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in
interest rates will adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group
manages this risk principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by matching, the re-pricing profile of
assets and liabilities. Overall interest rate risk positions are managed by using derivative instruments to
manage overall position arising from the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments. The use of derivatives
o manage interest rate risk is described in note 39,

The substantial portion of the Group's assets and liabilities are re-priced within one vear. Accordingly there is
a limited exposure {o interest rate risk.

Interest rate rsk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible chamge in interest rate
movements. The Group assumes a fluctuation in inferest rates of 50 basis points (2014 50 basts poinfs) and
estimates the following impact on the net profit for the year and equity at that date:

Met profit for the vear Equity
2015 2014 w15 014
AEDDOD AEL 000 AEDD00 AEL 00D
Flurtuation in yield 1,366 215762 335,071 70434

The interest rate sensiivifies set out above are illustrative only and employ simplified scenarios. They are
based on AED 303986 million (2014: AED 278220 million) interest bearing assets and AED 251,024 million
(2014: AED 247 778 million) inferest bearing habilities with interest re-pricing less than one year, for assessing
the impact on net profit. The impact on equity indudes the impact on net profit and the interest rate sensitivity
cn the available for sale portfolio. The sensitivity does not incorporate achons that could be taken by
management o mitigate the effect of interest rate movements.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial Risk Management (confinued)
(c)  Markel risk (corntinned)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a finandal instrument will fluchuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates and arises from finandal instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Group's
functional currency is the UAE Dicham. The Board of Directors has set Hmifs on positions by currency.
Positions are closely monitored and hedging strategies are used {o ensure positions are maintained within
established hemits. At 31 December, the Group had the followng significant net exposures denominated in
foretgn currendes:

Met spot Forward Tuotal Tatal
position position 2ms 2014
(shortilong  (short)/long (short)/long {short)long
AED'BOD AEDDI AEDYDDO AEDD0O0

Currency
US Dollar 36,606,915 (16547 815) 20,149,100 10,020237
UK Sterling Pound (9.462,720) 9,297,239 (165,451} 212434
Euro 5,141,779 (5A472,359) {330,581) 189,181
Kuwadti Dinar (907,613) 857,960 {49,653) (526,251)
Chinese Yuan (1041,853) 1,043,328 1470 (2.750)
Saudi Riyal (607,351} (5,694,882) (6,302,232) (2327,591)
Japanese Yen 1,721,515 (1,701,947} 19,564 40441
Swiss Franc 221,468 (205.495) 15,973 470466
Qatari Riyal (66,233} 1,742,906 1,676,614 1.361,06%
Balwaind Dinar 220,175 (432,717) (212 542) 79,843
Egyptian Pound (5302} (45,133} (54,441) 375,877
Jordardan Dinar 533,025 {234,402 298,623 266,422
Malaysian Ringgit (585,852) 562,711 (23,141) 133,456

As AED, SAR and QAR are pegged against US Dollar, the Group's risk exposure to these currendes is lmited
to that extent. Exposure o other foreign currendes is insignificant.

Equity price risk
Equity price risk arises from the change in fair values of equity investments. The Group manages this risk
through diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry coneerdration.

(d}  Operational risk

Operational sk is defined as the nisk of losses resulting from madequate or failed processes, people & systems
ar from external events, this includes legal and technology risk and exchides strategic and reputation risk

Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group. The primary respomsibilify to ensure that risks are
managed and monitored resides with the businesses within the Group. Group’s businesses are supported by
Embedded dak funcions and Group Operational Risk Management as “second line of defence’ to ensune robust

risk managemsent.

Further, there are reviews conducted by Group Internal Audit as the “third line of defence’. The results of
intemal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the respective divisions and summaries are
submitted to the Audit Committee,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

4

(d)

Financial Risk Management {continued)

Operational risk {continued)

The Group has an established Operational Risk framework consisting of polices and procedures to identify,
assess, monitor, control, report and to manage risks and to nobfy, identify and rechify incidents. The
Operational Risk framework also provides the interrelation with other risk categories. Where appropdiate, sk
is mitigated by way of insurance,

Typically, Operational Risk events are classified as:

+ Internal fraud: Risk of unauthorized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees

& External fraud: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

+ Employee practices & workplace safefy: Risk of faiflures in employvee relations, diversity and
discrimination, and health and safety risks across the Group

¢«  Damage to phyeical assets: Risk of impact to the Group due to natural disasters

+ (Clients, Products & Business Prachices: Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, fiduciary
responsibilities, improper business practices, flawed products and advisory activilies.

+ Business Disruption & System failures: Risk of not planning and testing business continuity and
disaster recovery for systems

+  Execution delivery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, custommer intake and
documentation, vendor management and mondtoring and reporting.

The Board has oversight responsibilibes for operational sk management across the Group. These
responsibiliies are delegafed and exerdsed through the Group Risk Committee, which is the senior
management forum responsible for the oversight of Operational Risk.
Key responsibilities of Group Risk Comenittee with regards to Operational risk include to ensure:
«  Approval of the Group Operabonal Risk Management Framework and oversight over its
implementation

«  Approve large incidents as per the Operational Risk management approval matrix
Approve the strategy and direction for Operational Risk across the group.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Financial Risk Management {continued)
{e}  Capital management

The Grongpis governed by CBUAE gudelines on regulatory capital requivements for the Group, in addition the
overseas branches and subsidiaries may be directly supervised by their local regulators. The capital
management process for the Group is linked to the overall business strategy toensure that capital is adequate to
the level of inherent risk in the business and within the firm’s capdital sk appetite The Group conducts capital
planning in conjunction with the finandal budgeting exercise,

The Board and top management define the long term strategic direction for the Group. This provides the
framework for the development of a bottom up plan based on the projections from individual business units.
The bottom up plan is an input to the annual budgeting process and & conducted at a business unit and country
level. These are consolidated for each business division and finally, for the entire Group, Business units, within
each division, develop forecasted balance sheet and Pé&L statements for the next year, by considering the
following key parameters:

s theshort ferm (one year) goals
= risk appetite & strategy

= target growth rates
= farget rebums

The Group’s capital management policies aim to ensure that it has sufficent capdtal to cover the risks associated
with its activiies and the allocation of capital across the group The assessment of the various risks across the
Group and their likely fmpact i carred out in conjunction with ICAAP undedaken annually, As part of the
ICAAFP process, GEMD identifies the various rsks the Group is exposed to as part of its day-to-day operations.
Mext the Group sets in place policies and procedures, frameworks and methodologies, contingency plans and
other processes fo measune, matage and mibgate the impact of such risks Finally the Group determines the
risks which would be covered by capital.

The key objectives of the Group's capital management process are:

= Maintain sufficient capital {o meet minimum capital requirement set by CBUAE as well as o ensure
transibion to Basel I in terms of capital ratios.

®  Maintain suffident capital to support Group’s Kisk Appetite and sivalegic objectives as per long-term
strategic plan.

*  Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scemanos induding increased capital requirements
determined through ICAAP.

= Tosupport the Group’s credit rating,

The Group conducts a multi-year stress test exercise in which the Balance Sheet and Profit or Loss statements
are determined for base case and stress scenarios, The risk factors are impacted by the assumptions made for
the base and stress scenaros and the corresponding impact on the capital adequacy is determined. The Group
uses macroeconomic stress tests in order to project capital need and capital levels under various unfavourable
soenanios. The tests are perceived as an important tool in internal capital planming, The stress test result during,
25 shows that the Group has adequate capital in the event of adverse scenarios during the next 3-yvear period.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial risk management {confinned)

{e}  Capital management {confinued)

The Geoip's vegulatory capital adequacy ratio, set by the Central Bank of the UAE at a mirdmum level of 12%
£2014: 12%), of which Tier 115 to be 8% (2014 8%) is analysed info two ters as follows:

Basel [T Basel I
2015 2014
AEDFDOD AED 000

Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capital 5463 885 4,968 645
Retained earnings 6,758,805 6,611,812
Statutory and special reserve 5209722 4,736,112
General reserve and share option scheme 19,283,274 17,325,759
Foreign currency trarslation reserve {152,879) (112,143}
Convertible notes - equity component - 108,265
Tier 1 capital notes 6,754,750 4,000,000
Diechuctions from Tier 1 capital (269,355) (17,647)
Total 43,095,202 37,620,803

Tier 2 capital
Fair vahie reserve (331,937) 146,220
Cualifying subordinated habilities 301,095 687,004
Allowance for collective impairment 2 062 200 2582619
Deductions from Tier 2 capital (15,752) (17.647)
Total 2975613 3,398,196
Total regulatory capital base 46,073,815 41,018,992

Riak voeighied asseds:

Credif risk 236,976,736 209,665,272
Market risk 20,397,958 23,611,281
Operational risk 17,883,226 16,936,730
Risk weighted assets 275,257,920 250,213,283
Tier 1 capital ratio 15.66% 15. 4%
Capital adequacy ratio 16.74% 16.39%

The Bank and its overseas branches and subsidiaries have complied with all externally imposed capital
requirements for all periods presented.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

5 Use of estimales and judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, [FRS require the management to select suitable
aceounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are teasonable and
prudent and would result in relevant and reliable information. The management,. based on guidance in [FRS
and the L[ASB's Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Finandal Statements has made these
estimates and judgements, Listed below are those estimates and judgement which could have the most
sigrificant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncerlainty

(i} Impairment charge on loans and advances and non-trading investments
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy 3(b) (vii) and 4(a).

The Group evaluates impairment on Ioans and advances and non-frading investments on an ongoing basis and
a comprehensive review on a quarterly basis to assess whether an impaitment charge should be recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. In particular, considerable judgement by management is required in
the estimation of the amount and fiming of future cash flows when determiring the level of impairment charge
raquired. In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgements about counterparty’s financial
situation and other means of settlement and the net realisable value of any underlying collateral Such
estimates are based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgement and
uncertainty, and actual resulis may differ resulting in future changes to such impairment charges.

{ii) Collective impairment charge
Collective impadoment charge is evaluated as described in accoun ting policy 3(b) (vii) and 4(a}.

In addition to spedfic impairment charge against individually impaired assets, the Group also maintains a
collective inpairment allowance agadnst portfolios of loans and advances with similar economic characheristics
which have not been specifically identified as impaired. In assessing the need for collective impairment charge,
management considers concenfrations, credit quality, porfticlio size and ecomomic factors. In order to estimate
the requited allowance, assumphons are made to define the way inherent losses are modelled and to defermine
the required input parameters, based on historical and current economic conditions.

(iii) Impairment charge on property and equipment and investment properties
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy 3() (idi) and 3(k}iv).

In determining the net realisable value, the Group uses the selling poces determined by external independent
valuer's companies, having appropriate recognised professional gualifications and recent experience in the
location and category of property being valued. The selling prices are based on market values, being the
estimated amournt for which a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing
buyer atd a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction.

(ivi Contingent liability arising from litigations
Due fo the nature of its operations, the Group may be involved in liigations arising in the ordinary course of
business. Provision for contingent liabilities arising from litigations is based on the probability of outflow of
economic resources and reliability of estimating such outflow, Such matters are subject to many uncerfainties
and the outcome of individual matters is not predictable with assurance.

(v}  Share option scheme
The fair vahre of the share option scheme is determined using the Black-5choles model The model inputs

comprise share price, exercise price, share price volatility, contractual life of the option, dividend yield and risk-
free interest rate.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

5 Use of estimales and judgements (coniinued)
Ky sources of estivnation wncerlainty feontinued)

(vi) Valuation of financial instruments
The valaation techniques of financial instruments may require cerfain unobservable inputs to be estimated by
the management. These are discussed in detadl innote 6,

tvii} Defined benefit plan

The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a rumber of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumphions. The assumptions used in determining the net cosi{incoms) for
obligations inchide the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions would impact the carrving amount of
the defined benafit obligation.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate af the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should
be used to determine the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to setlle the
future obligations. In defermining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have
the terms to maturity approximating the terms of related benefit obligation.

Other key asumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in parf on current market condifions.
Additional information on these assumptions are diselosed in note 21,

Critical aecounfing judgements in appiying the Group's accounting policies include:

ta)  Financial asset and liability classification

The Group's accounting polides provide scope for financial assets and liabilities to be designated on inception
into different acoounting categories in certain droumstances:

In classifying financial assets as “fair value through profit or loss”, “held-to-maturity” or “available-for-sale”,
the Group has defermined it meets the description as set out in accoumting policy (b} (1),

(b}  Qualifying hedge relationships
In designating financial instriuments as qualifying hedge relaionships, the Group has determined that it expects
the hedge tobe highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship.

(¢} Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
The Group's determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments is discussed in note 6.

(d)  Structured entities

For all funds managed by the Group, the investors are able to vote by simple majority to remove the Group as
fund manager, and the Group’s aggregate economic inferest in each fund is not material. As a result, the Group
has concluded that it acts as agent for the investors in these funds, and therefore has not consolidated these
funds.

(e}  Operating segments
In preparation of the segment information disclosure, the management has made certain assumplions fo arrive
at the segment reporting. These assumptions would be reassessed by the management on a periodic basis.
Operating segments are detailed in note 41.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

[+ Financial assels and liabilities
{a) Valuation control framework

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair value. This
framework inchides a Valuation Committee that reports to the Group Risk Committee. The Group also has
contral functions to support this framework (Produet Contrel, Independent Price Veriffcation, Model
Walidation and Group Market Risk) that are independent of front office management. Specific controls include:

Independence in valuation process betwaeen risk taking units and control units;

System for valuations;

Verification of observable pricing

Review and approval process for new models and changes to models;

Analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements; and

Review of significant unobservable inpuis, valuation adjustments and significant changes 1o the fair
value measurement of Level 3 instruments.

@ F &% ® ® #

The fair values of due from banks and finandal institutions, reverse repurchase agreement . due to banks and
fAnancial institutions, repurchase agreements and Customer accounts and other deposite which are
predominantly short ferm in tenure and issued at market rates, are considered o reasonably approximate their
book vahie

The Group estimates that the fair value of its loans and advances portolio is not materially different from its
book value since the majority of loans and advances carry floating market rates of inferest and are frequently
re-priced. For loans considered impaired, expected cash flows, inchiding anticipated realisabion of collateral,
were discounted using an appropriate rate and considering the Hme to collect, the net result of which is not
materially different from the carrying value,

(b) Determination of fair values

Fair valie is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an orderly
transacton between market pariidpants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most
advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-
pecformance tisk. Consequently, differences can arise between book values and the fair value estimates.
Underlying the defirdtion of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going coneern without any
intention or reguirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse
terms,

The Group measures fair values using the following fair valuze hierarchy that reflects the significance of the
irpuets used in making the measurements:

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in active market for an identical instrument.

Lewvel 2: Valuation fechnigues based om observable mputs, either directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (ie.,
derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets
for similar instruments; or other valuaion fechniques where all significant inputls are divectly or indirectly
observable from market data.

Level 3 Valuation fechniques using unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the
valuation technigue includes input not based on observable data and the unobservable input have a significant
impact on the instrument’s vahaation. This category includes instraments that are valued based on quoted
prices of similar instruments after making adjustments based on unobservable mputs that are necessary to
reflect fair value of the instrizment.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
[ Financial assets and liabilities {confinued)

(¢} Valuation techniques

All financial assets and liabilites are measured at amortised cost except for derivatives, investment at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments which are measured at fair value by reference to
published price quotations in an actve market or from prices quoted by counterparties or through use of
valuation techniques.

Fair value of financal assets and labilities that are traded in active market are based on quoted market price or
dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Group defermines fair value using valuation
techniques, such as discounted cash flow models, benchenarling against simdlar instruments for which
observable market prices exist, Black-Scholes model or other valiatdon models. Each valuation tednnique
maodels the behaviour of underlying market factors. These market factors include interest rates, credit spreads
and other inputs used in estimating discount rates, bond prices, foreign exchange rates, equity and equity index
prices, volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques is fo arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the
fAnancial instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined by market participants aching at
arm's length.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation moedels for determining the fair valwe of common finandal
instrumnents, such as interast rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data. Observable prices
ar model inputs are usually avallable in the market for listed debt and equity securibes, exchange-traded
derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives such as inferest rate swaps. Availability of observable
matket prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation and also reduces
the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. Availability of cbservable market prices and mputs
vares depending on the praducts and markets and is prone to changes based on spedfic events and general
conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex instruments, the Group uses third party valuation models, which are developed from
recognisad valuation models. These valuation models require expert judgement for the seleckion of the most
appropriate valuation model to be used incuding input market data and underlying assumptions for the
determination of fair value.

Model mputs and parameters can be calibrated against historical data and market prices for plain vanilla
instruments, published forecasits and current or recent cbserved fransactions in  similar instruments. This
calibration process is inherently subjective and it vields ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fadr value,
and expert judgement is required fo select the most appropriate pomt in the range.

{d}  Fair Value adjustment

Credit Valnation Adjustments

The Group modelled the CVA adjustment in 2015 taking into acoount trades subject to collateral and netting
agreements. The methodology for CVA calrulation relies on three components: a standard loss given defaulf
assumption of 60% is used for the exposures, the probability of default of the counterparty is implied from
credit spreads or credit rating, the expected positive exposure is calaulated using simulation methodolegy or
sisnplified add-on approach. The methedology does not account for wrong way risk,

Madel-related adfusbinents
Model related adjustments are applied when either model inputs are overly simplified or the model has

limitations deriving the fair value of a positon. These adjustments are required to correct existing model
weaknesses or deficdencies that were highlighted during the model review process.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
] Financial assets and liabilities (confinued)
{e}  Fair value of financial instruments {continued)
The Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are classified as loans and receivables and at amortised
cost, are categorised under Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, as there is no active market for such assets and
liabilities. The Bank considers these to have a fair value approximately equivalent to their net carrying value as

majority of such financial instmument carey variable interest rates and relatively short tenor of maturity,

(fi  Financial instrument measured at fair value - hierarchy

The table below analyses finandal mstnoments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting perdod, by the
level in the fair value hierarchy info which the fair value measurement is categorised:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AEDD00 AEDYDOO AELYDOD AEDDDD

Asat 31 December 2015
Financial assets held for trading 8,054,986 3,324,809 - 12279705
Designated at fair value through profif and loss 11,343 - - 11,345
Available-for-sale financial assets 51,176,761 5,812,140 13,806 57002707
Derivative financial instnuments (Assets) 4982 10,569,109 - D579
Derivative financial instruzments (Liabilities) 73,799y (12,778,559 - (12,852,358)
60,074 273 6,927,459 13806 67015578

As at 31 December 2014
Finanial assets held for trading 12,506,693 2,902,339 - 15409032
Designated at fair value through profit and loss - 16,630 - 16,630
Available-for-sale financial assets 57,200,896 4652747 13871 61957514
Derivative finandial instruments (Assets) 1,785 TA2LM3 - TA22 808
Derivative finandial instruments (Liabilities} (6520)  (10M6604) - (10,953,124)

68,792 554 4,046,155 13871 73,852,880

Certain available-for-sale investment secunties have been disclosed under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as
management has recorded these at cost in the absence of observable market data. Management has deemed cost
to be a close approximation of their fair value.

There were no teansfers between the fair value hierarchies for any financial asset or liability except for three
corporate bonds amounting to AED 528 million (2014: AED 24 miilion) which were transferred from Level 1 to
Level 2 due to lack of direct pricng mputs.

The following table shows a recondliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances for instruments
mieasured at fair value and classified as Level 5

2015 2014
AEDY OO AEDYD00

Available-for-sale financial assets
Balance as at 1 January 13,871 13583
Purchases - =
Settlements and other adjustments {65) 78
Balance as at 31 December 13,506 13,571
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

7 Cash and balances with central banks

2015 014
AED 000 AEDD00
Cash on hand 1,537,590 1458410
Central Bank of the UAE
cagh reserve deposits 12,286,267 11,269,355
certificates of deposits 41,055,045 3,500,000
other balances 1,339,930 9,903,965
Balances with other central banks
cash reserve deposits 1,107,314 2 466507
cther deposits and balances 19,055,663 26,824,100
76,382,109 55,452,341
Caah reserve deposits are not avadlable for the day to day operations of the Group.
8 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
2015 2014
AED D00 AEDYO00
Managed portfolios 1,339,604 1,354,939
Debt instruments 10609218 13,876,652
Equity instruments 342316 194,071
12,201,138 15425 662

Equity instruments include investments designated at fair value through profit or loss amounting to AED
11,343 thousand (2014: AED 16,630 thousand).

9 Due from banks and financial institutions
2015 X4
AEDF D00 AED 000
Current, call and notice deposits 1,904,795 D65,667
Margin deposits 7,777,902 7,107,875
Fixed deposits 1,209 071 3,034,927
Wakala placements = 25,793
10,551,768 11,134,262

10 Reverse repurchase agreements
The Group enters into reverse repurchase agreements in the normal course of business in which the third party
transfers financial assets to the Group for short term financing. The carrying amount of financial assets at the
reporting date amounted to AED 13,330 million (2014: AED 15,844 million).

Mo allowances for impairment have been recognised against reverse repurchase agreements during the year
(207 4: redl},
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

10 Reverse repurchase agreements (confinued)

At 31 December 2015, the fair value of financial assels accepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sell
or re-pledge in the absence of default was AED 14,077 million {2074: AED 16,564 million).

At 31 December 2015, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that hawve been sold or re-pledged
was AED 4,662 million (2014: AED 3,774 million). The Group is obliged to return equivalent securities.

These fransactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities

botrowing and lending activities,
11 Loans and advances

2015 2014
AED D00 AEDXDO0
Gross loans and advances 213,075,191 202 072325
Lezs: interest suspended {1,036,665) {1,124,889)
Less: allowanece for impairment {6,124,973) (5,668, (184)
Met loans and advanoes 205,913,553 194 279352

An analysis of gross loans and advanees by counterparty at the teporting date is shown below:

2015 24

AELYDDO AELY)

Covernment sector 20,319,828 23435215
Public sector 44,130,248 41,254 554
Banking sector 23,337,915 24,108,738
Corporate ( private sector 89,918,130 51,009,004
Peraonal / retail sector 35,369,070 32224653
Gross loans and advances 213,075,191 202072325

An analysis of gross loans and advances by product as at the reporting date is shown below:

s 2014

AEDYDOD AEDT00

Overdrafts 12,025,168 14,101,326
Term loans 125,060,273 117,015 766
Trade related loans 24 575,687 24,455,002
Real estate and morigage loans 34,255,050 30,957,049
Personal loans 13,793,451 12,165,978
Credit cards 1,716,439 1,811 662
Vehicle financing loans 1,649,145 1,565,542
Gross loans and advances 213,075,191 202,072,325
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

i1 Loans and advances (continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year is shown below:

15 2014

AED 0D AED000

At 1 Jaruzary b, 668,084 6,327 026
Charge for the year

Collective provision 503,282 574,433

Specific provision 1,476,162 1,152,454

Recoveries (375,547) (473,201}

Write-backs during the year (685 050) {411,158)

Amounts writhen off {1458 658) (500,300}

At 31 December 6,124,073 6,668, 084

The Group provides lending against investment in equity securities and hands. The Group is authorised to
liguidate these instrments if their coverage falls below the certain agreed threshold. The carrying value of such
loans is AED 7,592 million (2614: AED 9977 million) and the fair vahe of instruments held as collateral against
such loans is AED 20225 million (2014: AED 23324 million). During the year, the Group has Houidated
insignificant amount of collaterals due to fall in the coverage ratio.

Islamirc financing

Inchided in the above loans and advances are the following Islamic financing contracts:

2015 2014
AEDXDO0 AEDD00
Tjara 5,534,022 5,807,880
Murabaha 3,667,084 2 880 632
Mudaraba 16,230 3,984
Others 12,405 8,591
Total Islamic financing contracts 9,229,741 8,701,087
Less allowance for impairment {(83,600) (56,664
Less: suspended profit (701} (720
9,145,341 8,643,703

The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year is shown below:
205 2014
AFEDDO0 AEDY000
At 1 January 56,664 45,390

Charge for the year

Collective provision {7,971) 7820
Specdific provision 56,730 13,772
Recovenies [ write-backs during the year (369) (7,621}
Amounts written off and other adjustments (21,355) (5,703}
At 31 December 83,699 56,664

G0
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11 Loans and advances {confinued)
Islamic financing {continued)

The gross [jara and the related present vahse of mirdomam Hara payments are as follows:

2015 2014
AEDDDO AELY000
Lrross larn
Less than ane year 3,354,662 2632533
Between one and five years 2.846,133 3841470
More than five years 2,973 858 2789811
9,124,653 8,763,814
Less: deferred income {3,500,631) (2.955,934)
Net Ijara 5,534,022 5 807,550
2015 2014
AEDDO0 AELY000
Net present value of srinismem lease payments
Less than one year 2 466,155 320512
Between one and five years 744,191 3,098 557
More than five years 2323646 1,872,711
553,022 5,807 880

Investment in finance lease

Included in the above loans and advances are the following investment in finance leases:

2015 2014

AED D00 AED000

Gross investment in finance leases 8,437 582 6,242 737
Unearned finance moome 1914,338) (B85,394)
Met investment in finance leases 7.523,244 6,157 343
Less: allowance for impairment (183,341} (172,167)
Less: interest suspended {38,081) (20 666)
Investment in finance leases 7,301,822 5,964,510
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11 Loans and advances {confinued)

Investment in finance lease {continued)

015 2004

Present Present

215 2014 value of value of

Gross Gross ininm mminimLm

investment investment lease leasa

in lease in bease payments payments

AED000 AED D00 AEDDOD AED000

Within ane year 37571 8166 36,800 8,003
One to five years 1,238,179 1245933 1,166,587 1,154,914
More than five years 7,160,852 5,588,576 6,319,548 4964 426
B,437 582 6,542 737 7,523,244 6,157,343

Unearned fnance income 914,338) (685,394) - :
Met investment in finance leases 7,523,244 6,157 343 7,523,244 6,157,343

The movement in allowance for impairment against finance lease receivables during the year is shown below:

2015 2014

AEDDOO AEDYDO0

At 1 January 172,167 146,301
Charge for the year

Specific provision net of write-backs (12,104) 5,262

Collective provision 23,278 20,604

AL3] December 183,341 172,167

12 Non-trading investments

2015 2014

AEDDO0 AEDDO0

Available-for-sale investments 57,002,707 61,957 514

Held-to-maturify investments 6,791 444 5,535,008

63,704,151 67,493,122
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
12 MNon-trading investments (coniinued)

An analysis of aoailale-for-sale investmenis by hype al the reporfing daie s shown below:

2015 2004

AEDDMD AEDY 000
Quoted  Unguoted Total Quoted  Unguoted Total
Equity investments 0424 13,781 36205 22188 13,687 35875
Debt investments 63,277,418 314,120 63621547 66543904 226277 66,570,181
Funds 136,373 2% 136,399 586,852 184 587.066

63 436,215 ABTM6 63,7MI51 67252974 240,148 67 493,122
Less:
Allowance for impairment - - - = = Ex

63,436,215 357,036 63794151 67,252,974 40148 67493122

Debt instruments under repurchase agreements incduded in quoted available-for-sale investments at
31 December 2M5 amounted to AED 24 434 million (2614 : AED 310,126 million).

13 Other assels

15 2014

AEDDD0 AED 000

Interest receivable 3,914 405 2895304
Acceptances 5497104 2405047
Sundry debtors and other receivables 1,108,558 1,045,143
Deferred tax asset 30,386 18457
10,550,483 6,370,981

The Group does not perceive any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances,

Apreptances arise when the Bank is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under
letters of credit. Afer acceptance, the instrument becomes an unconditional lability of the bank and is therefore
recognised as a financial lability in the consolidated statement of financial position. However every acceptance
has a coreesponding contractual right of reimbursement from the customer which is recogniszed as a financial
asset.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

14 Investment properties

Land and
buildings
AELY D0
Cost
At 1 January 2014 143,957
Additions and transfers 228521
Deletions (174,253}
At 31 December 2014 198,249
Additions and fransfers 30,818
Deletions {2,195)
At 31 December 2015 225872
———
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 Jaruary 2014 8727
Charge for the year 2,015
Additions and transfers 18,501
Deletions (9,527}
At 31 Drecember 2014 20,716
Charge for the year 1,987
Additdons and transfers 13,623
Deletions -
At 31 December 2015 365328
—_—
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2014 177,533
At 31 December 2015 190,546
—

The Group estimates that the fair value of the investment properbies approximates its carrying amounts as at
thi reporting date,

The fair vahtes of the Group's investment properties ane categorised under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,
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15 Property and equipment

Furniture,
Land, Compruler equipment, Capital
buildings and systems and safes and work -in-
alterations equi Pt vehicles PIOEress Total
AEDr000 AED‘000 AEDFO00 AEDY000 AEDX000
Cost
At Jarnrary 2014 2631925 788,602 40,059 151,378 3911964
Additions 2675 61,990 37436 173,862 302,963
Allocations from CWIP 19305 55,988 4370 (79,663) -
Disposals, transfers and
write offs! (82225} (12,115} {15.373) - (116.713)
At 31 December 2014 2,598,680 857465 366492 245577 4058214
Additons 17,920 42,029 13487 347,636 421,072
Allocations from CWIP 15500 150,167 16,063 (212,548) (30,518)
Disposals, transfers and
write offs! {16,513) (38,548) (29,938) = (84,959)
Al 31 December 2015 2615587 1,041,113 366,104 380,665 4403469
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses
At Januzary 2014 T32E77 461,850 243,629 - 1438356
Charge for the year 59,153 122,163 39,693 - 221,009
Disposals, transfers and
write offs’ (25,845) (17,058 {16,502) . (52,405
At 31 December 2014 7o6, 185 566,955 266,820 - 1,599,960
Charge for the year 42464 148,270 38238 = 235972
Impairment 4,300 - - - 4300
Disposals, transfers and
write offs! (20,629) {27 851) {27,065) - {75 545)
At 31 December 2015 792320 687 5374 277,993 - 1,757 687
Carrying amounis
At 31 December 2014 1832495 320,510 672 245,577 2498254
At 31 December 2015 1523267 353,735 88,111 380,665 2,645,782

1 adjusted for foreign exchange translation impact
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16 Due to banks and financial institutions

2015 2014
AED DO AED000

Banks amnd financial institulions
Current, call and notice deposits 2,124 348 1,712,526
Margin 1,189,984 B04,430
Fixed deposits 26,063,599 20,427,596
Wakala deposit = 350,000
30,278,331 23294 552

Central banks

Current and call deposits 338,655 94176
Fived and certificate of deposits 12,191,229 13290776
12,529,854 13,384,952
42,808,215 36,679,504

Due to banks and financial inshitutions are denominated in various currencies and carry a rate of nferest in the
range of 0% fo 2.2% {2074 (1% fo 5.25%)

17 Repurchase agreements

The Group enters into repurchase agreements in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised
financial assets directly o third parties.

The carrying value that is also the fadr value of financial assets collateralised at the reporting date amounted to
AED 25,786 million (2674: AED 10,729 meiifiion) and their assodated financial labilities amounted to AED 30,551
million (2014: AED 13 376 million). The net difference between the fair value of the finanaal assets collateralised
and the carrying value of the repurchase agreement is a shortage AED 4,765 million {2014: shorfage AED 3,747
mitiliont). The shortage is covered by re-pledging finandal assets recetved as collateral against reverse repurchase

agreements.
18 Euro commercial paper

The Bank established a USD 2,000,000 thousand Euro commercial Paper Programme ({the “ECP Programme")
for the issuance of Euro commercial paper under an agreement dated 13 September 2006 with Citibank, M.A.

The notes cutstanding as at the reporting date amounted to AED 8,720,597 thousand (2014: AED 5484,176
thonezand). They are denominated in various currencies, bear interest in the range of -0.13% o 0.99% (2014: 005%
to 0.90%) and have maturity periods of less than 12 months,

The Group has not had any defaulfs of prindpal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its Euro
commetcial paper during 2005,
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19 Customer accounts and other deposits

2015 2014
AEDDOO AED000

By account:
Current accounts 58,509, 496 56,575,565
Savings accounts 12,349 667 11,709,701
Margin accounts 1,379,276 1,088,714
Notice and Hime depaosits 138,649,803 163,051,617
211,288,242 232 425,597
Cerfificates of depaosit 22 526,316 10,759,065
233,814,558 243,154 652
2015 2014
AEDDO0 AED 000

By counterparhy

Government sector 26,172,119 63.576,003
Public sector 51,607,710 38,591,210
Corporate [ private sector 67,610,865 61,244,186
Personal [ retail sector 65,5097 545 63,004,188
211,288,242 232 425,597
Certificates of deposit 22,526,316 10,759,065
233,514,558 243,184, 652
2015 214
AEDDDO AED000

By location:
UAE 130,476,271 165,406,065
Europe 28,224,650 19,785,974
Arab countries 30,004,257 20,396,430
Americas 12,279,580 7 H9.566
Asia 10,116,743 7,151,183
Others 186,732 336339
211,288,242 232 425597
Certificates of deposit 22,526,316 10,758,055
233,614,558 243,154 652
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19 Customer accounts and other deposits (continued)

Fslamic customers” deposits

Inchided in the above Customer accounts and other deposits are the following Islamic term deposits:

2015 2014
AEDFDO0 AEDY000
Wakala deposits 2,546,852 3320410
Mudaraba deposits 385,128 360,627
2,931,980 3,681,037

20 Term borrowings
205 2014
AEDXO0) AED'D00
Convertible notes 1,766,137 1,728,180
Other term notes 15,974,831 13.270,536
17,740,968 14,998,716

Coenvertible netes indudes USD 500 million notes that mature in March 2008 and carry a fived coupon that is
paid semi-annually in arrears. The value of the conversion option at inception was AED 108,265 thousand and
as such has been classified as a part of equity under convertible note — equity component reserve.

During the year, the Bank has issued various fived and floating rate notes. The Bank hedges its currency and
interest rate exposune on these notes, The nominal vahies of the notes issued during the year ane stated below!

205 2004
AELFOMD AED 000
Fixed rale

AUD 80,527 1205479
CIH 111,803 -
EUR 99,901 =
HELD 75,826 -
LIsDx 4,058 665 -

Eloating rate
LSy 1,377,375 -
5,804,007 1205479

The Bank has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on term borrowings. The nominal vahee
hedges are AED 15.96 billion (2014: AED 15.186 billion} and the risks being hedged have a net positive fair value
of AED 52240 million (2014: net positive fair value of AED 22,03 million). The Group has not had any defaults
of principal, inferests, or other breaches with respect toits term borrowings during 2015 and 2014,
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21 Other liabilities

M5 2014

AED000 AED 000

Interest payable 3,538,842 2,375,884
Acceptances (mofe 13) 3885572 1,877,159
Provision employees’ end of service benefits 487,047 462,620
Accounts payable, sundry creditors and other Habilities 7,546,500 6,615,847
Ohverseas Ineomme fax 124547 111,020
15582 508 11,442,600

Employees end of Service benefits

Defired benefi! obligations

The Group provides for end of service benefits for ifs eligible employees, An actuadal valuation has been
carried out as at December 31, 2015 to ascerfain present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registerad
actuary in the UAE was appointed to evaluate the same, The present value of the defined benefit obligation,
and the related current and past service cost, were measured using the Projected Undt Credit Method.

The following key assumphions (weighted average rates) were used to value the liabilities:

2015 2014
Discount rate 4.00% per annum  3.25% per annum
Salary increase rate 200% per annum  3.00% per annum

Demagraphic assumptons for mortality, withdrawal and refirement were used in valuing the labilities and
benefits under the plan. Because of the natuee of the benefit, which is a hump sumn payable on axit due to any
cause, a combined single decrement rate has been used.

A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the liability by AED 9,571
thousand (2034: AED 14,818 thowsared) and AED 10,633 thousand (2014 AED 12722 fhowsand] respectively.
Sunlarly, a shift in the salary increment assumphion by +- 50 basis points would mmpact the hability by AED
10,815 thousand ¢(2014: AED 12,895 thowsand) and AED 10133 thousand (2014: AED 12,256 thowsand)
respectively.

The movement in the employees end of service obligation was as follows:

015 2014

AED'DOD AED000

Balance at 1 January 462,620 445,018
Net charge during the year 93,789 90,702
Faid during the year (69,362) {76,100}
Balance at 31 Decernber 457,047 462620

TO
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

21 Other liabilities (confinned)

Defined contribution plan

The Group pays contributions for its eligible employees which are freated as defined contribution plans. The
charge for the year in respect of these contributions is AED 72,970 thousand (2034: AED 73,039 thousand). As at
the reporting date, pension payable of AED 11,874 thousand has been classified under other liabilities (2(74:
AED 12,8340 thopsand ),

Overseas income tax

The Group has provided for overseas income tax in accordance with management's estimate of the total
amount payable based on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting date. Where appropriate
the Group has made payments of tax on account in respect of these estimated habilities.

The overseas income tax charge for the year is caloulated based upon the adjusted net profit for the year. The
movemnent in the provision was as follows:

2015 2014
AEDFO00 AED D00
At Jarusary 111,090 92 380
Charge for the year 308956 271,109
Owerseas income tax paid, net of recoveries (285,499) (252,3599)
At 31 December 124547 111,090
22 Subordinated notes

205 2014
AEDDDD AEL¥000

Liability component
15 March 2006 issue 914,205 1,007 047
10 December 2012 issue 361,003 479,594
1,275,208 1,516,641
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

22 Subordinated notes (continued)

15 March 26 issue:

The Bank issued AED 2.5 billion subordinated convertible notes due on 15 March 2016 in accordance with the
approval of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 Movember 2005. The notes bear an interest rate equal
to 3 menth EIBOR plus 0.25% paid quarterly,

During the year, the Bank purchased back AED 125,000 thousand (2024: AED Nil) of 15 March 2006 issue from
the market for AED 124,938 thousand (2014: AED Nill. As a result, the fotal outstanding liability deceeased by
AED 124,790 thousand (2014: AED Nil). Further, a loss on the extinguishment in the amount of AED 143
thousand (2034: AED Nit) was recogrised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The above mentioned notes are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

015 204

AEDDOD AED 000

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 2,500,000 2.500,000

Less: amount classified as equity (72,926) (72.925)
Carrying amount of Hability

component on initial recognition 2427074 2427074

Add: cumulative accreted interest 26,357 27546

Less: converted liability component (1,347.973) (1,247,973}

Carrying amount of liability bought back 1191,253) (69,900}

Carrying ameount of Rability camponent 914,205 1,037,047

The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2015 was 3 month EIBOR plus 0.301% {2034: 3 month EIBOR plus
0.307%.).

10 Deceiber 2002 fssue:

On 10 December 2012, the Bank issued MYR 500 million subordinated notes due on % December 2027, The notes
bear an interest rate equal to 4.75% and will be paid on a semi-annual basis. The Bank has hedged the currency
and interest rate exposure on these notes. The nominal value hedge is AED 427.74 million (2014: AED 524.71
wiiflion) and the tsks being hedged has a negative fair value of AED 6519 million (2014: negative fair value of
AED 43.22 millipn), The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2015 was 4.79% (2074 4.79%).

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect fo its subordinated
notes during 2015 and 2014.

23 Capital and reserves
Share capital
The authorised share capital of the Bank comprise 5,210 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each (2014: 4,736

wiftiion shares of AED 1 gach). The issued and fully paid share capital at 31 December 2015 is comprised of 5210
million ordinary shares of AED 1 each {2074; 4,736 million ordimary shares of AED T each).

T2
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23 Capital and reserves (confinued)

Reconcilintion of Share capital
2015 2014
AED¥ODD AED 000
As at 1 January 4,736,112 4,305,556
Shares issued under Share opton scheme - -
4,736,112 4 305,556
Bosus shares issued during the period 473,511 430,556
5209723 4,736,112
Treasury shares held (e 25) {LLI]E&} (12,940)
As at 31 December 5,198,640 4,723,172

Statutory and special reserves

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Assodation and the requirements of the Urndon Law Mo, (10§ of 1980, a
mirimarmn of 10% of the annual net profit should be transferred to both statutory and special reserve undil each
of these reserves equal fo 530%: of the paid-up share capital. The Statutory and special reserve are not available
for distribution to the shareholders,

Dividends
The following dividends were paid by the Group during the year ended 31 Decembern
2015 204
AEDDDO AED D00
Cash dividend AED 0.40
per ordinary share (2004 0.40 per ordinary share) 1880971 1,712,848
10¢% borus shares (2024: 10% bomus shares) issued 475,611 430,556

Proprosed dividends:

O 27 January 2016, a cash dividend of AED 040 per ordinary share and nil borus share (2074: proposed cash
dividersd of AED 0.40 per ordivary shave and 10% bonus shaves) was proposed by the Board of Directors in respect
of 2015 which is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Orther reserves
Other reserves inchide the following;:

#)  General reserve
The general reserve is available for distribution to the shareholders at the recommendation of the Board of
Directors. On 10 March 2015 the AGM approved the transfer of AED 2.4 billion (31 December 2014: AED 2.4
billion) to general reserve.

T3
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23 Capital and reserves (confinued)
Orther reserves {continued)
(fi)  Fair value veserpe

The fair value reserve includes the curmulative net change in the fair value of non-trading investments, unfil the
investment is derecogndsed or impadred, and cash flow hadge reserve,

2015 2014
AEDDO0 AED000
Fevaluation reserve — available-for-sale investmends
At January 331,620 787157
Met unrealised gains during the year 17,013 380,315
Met cumulative realised gains recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year {B35,845) (535,852)
At 3] December {287.012) 331,620
Hedging reserve — cash flow hedge
At Jarnzary {6,688) 35,896
Changes in fair value (38.237) (42.584)
At 31 December {44,925) (6,588)
Total at 31 December {331,937 324,932

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the curnulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
hedging instruments related to hedged transactions.

(i) Foreign curvency travslation reserie
Foreign currency itranslation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from translation of the net
investment in foreign operations.

24 Tier 1 capital notes

Tier 1 capital notes are perpetual, subordinated, unsecured and carry a fived coupon during the initial period
and are paid sermi-armually in arnears, The Bank may elect not to pay a coupon at its own discretion. The note
holder does not have a right to claim the coupon and an elechon by the Bank not fo service coupon is not
comsidered an event of default. In addition, there are certain circumstances under which the Bank is prohibited
from making a coupon payment on a relevant coupon payment date,

If the Bank makes a non-payment election or a non-payment event ocours, then the Bank will not (a} dedlare or
pay any distribution or dividend or (b) redeem, purchase, cancel, reduce or otherwise acquire any of the share
capital or any secunties of the Bank ranking pari passu with or junior to the Motes except securities, the term of
which stipulate a mandatory redemplion or conversion into equity, in each case unless or until two consecutive
coupon payments have been paid in full, During the period, a coupon payment election was made by the Bank
in the amount of AED 20012 million (2014: AED I87.5 meillton).
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24 Tier 1 capital notes (continued)

s 2004

Cuttency AED000 AED000

Government of Abu Dhabi Motes AED 4,000,000 4,000,000
{6 morith EIBOR plus 2.3 percent per annin)

USD 750 million MNotes s 2,754,750 -

{5 year mid suap rafe plus 3.35 percent per arnuem) —_— —_—

6,754,750 4,000,000

—_—

On 17 June 2015, USD 750 million Tier 1 capital notes were issued by the Bank, These notes are perpetual and
carry an interest rate of 5.25 percent (caloulated based on the velevant 5 year mid swap rate plus 3.35 percent
per anmum]) during the “indtial period”. After the irdtial period, at every reset date, interest would be caloullated
for the next reset period at the relevant Five-Year Mid Swap Rate plus a margin of 3.35 percent per annum.
Inferest is payable semi-annually in arrears on these notes. The “Initial Peried” is the peded (from and
inchuding) the Issue Date to (but exchuding) the First Call Date. The “Reset Date” is the First Call Date and every
fifth anniversary thereafter. These notes are callable by the Bank beginning from 17 Jure 2020 “First Call date®
and every interest payment date thereafter,

25 Share option scheme

The Bark had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme (Ehe “Scheme") for selected employees which
would vest over three years and can be exercised within the next three years affer the vesting period. The key
vesting condition is that the option holder is in continued employment with the Bank until the end of vesting
pericd. The optons lapse six years after their date of grant irrespective of whether they are exerdsed or not,

The Group has established a subsidiary to issue shares when the vested opton is exercised by the employee..
These shares are treated as treasury shares until exerdised by the option holders,

As at the reporting date 2976 thousand (2014: 14,490 thouzamd) options were exercised by the option holders
resuling in an increase in the total share capital by AED 2,976 thousand (2034; AED 14,490 fowsand) and share
premium by AED 19,772 thousand (2id: AED 107,885 fhousand).

The nuenbers of share options are as follows:

2015 2014

Number Mumber

of options of options

in thousands in thousands

Outstanding at 1 January 33278 23950
Granted during the year 18,745 24,505
Met forfeited during the year {1,096) (634)
Exercized during the year 12,976) {14,490)
Expired during the year 70) (33)
Outstanding at 31 December 47 881 33278

—_—

The average exercise price of options exercised during 20015 was AED 7.6d (2014 AED 8031 The ophons
outstanding as at 31 December 2015 have an exercise price per share ranging between AED 685 to 12 (2014
AED 7.54 fo 11.44).
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25 Share option scheme (continued)

Reconciliation of treasury shaves held smder the Scheme

015 2014
AEDDOO AED 000
As at 1 Jamaary 12,940 25,086
Shares issued under the Scheme - -
12,040 25,086
Options evercised by staff during the period 12,976) {14,490
2,964 10,59
Bonus shares issued during the period 1,119 2,344
As at 31 December 11,083 12,940
26 Interest income

2015 2014
AEDDDO AED 000

Inberest from
Central banks 199 761 204,813
Banks and finandal institutions 128 451 179,446
Reverse repurchase agreements 72,130 102,801
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 275,002 234,139
Man-trading investments 1,756,584 1,379,110
Loans and advances 6,533,171 6,034 303
5,065,129 8,634 612

27 Interest expense
2015 2014
AED 000 AED000
Inferest to

Banks and finandal institutons 297 803 177,035
Repurchase agreements 120,392 2236
Euro commercial paper 28571 19506
Customer accounts and other deposits 986,732 1,000,902
Term borrowings 553362 BRG 424
Subordinated notes 14 39.540
2,021,044 1,935,649
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28 Income from Islamic financing contracts
s 2014
AEDDDD AELYD00
Tjara 203,725 293,266
Murabaha 181,900 106,564
Mudaraba - 7,062
385 605 336,892
29 Depositors’ share of profils
2015 2014
AED D0 AED000
Wakala deposits 16,705 14,355
Musdaraba deposits 5027 3,480
22,632 17,837
30 Met fee and commission income
2015 2014
AEDDD0 AED000
Fee and commission income
Trade finance 601,825 518,650
Collection services 58548 76,515
Brokerage income 65 552 147,079
Asset management and investment services 133,047 187,667
Investments, derivatives and risk particdpation 22137 146,065
Retail and corporate lending, 802168 801,845
Cards and e-services 1,046 546 852,798
Accounts related services 68,327 94,890
Commission on transfers 70833 73,638
Others 125465 103,373
Total fee and commission income 2,59404 548 3,002 520
Fee and commission expense
Brakerage commission 31,247 35459
Handling charges 5977 6,110
Credit card charges 736,122 568,755
Retail and corporate lending 90,524 51,068
Others 24 436 29,536
Total fee and commission expense 58,306 691,928
Met fee and commission income 2,106,242 2310592

Asset management and investment service fees include fees earned by the Group on trust and Hdudary
activiies where the Group holds or invests assets on behalf of its customers.
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31 Net foreign exchange gain

2015 2014
AEDD00 AEDDOD

Trading and retranslation gain on
foreign exchange and related derivatives' 469412 (105,120)
Dealings with customens 348175 301,205
817 587 196,085

P Due to effective hedging strategies, the offsetling impact of hedging instruments is reflected in the net gains
from sale of non-trading investments (mode 320

32 MNet gain on investments and derivatives

205 2014
AED¥DDO AEDDOD

Met realised ard unrealised gains oninvestments at faie
value through profit or loss and derivatives? (384,523) (75 806)
Met gain from sale of non-trading investments 635,645 835,852
Dividend incame 3067 7.356
254,160 764,402

Interest income on debt instnuments classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss as well as debt
instruments classified as non-trading investments is presented within interest inoomse,

ncludes credif value adjustment of AED 71 miflion (2014: AED 72 mifllion),

33 Other operating income

2015 014
AEDDDO0 AEDD00
Gain on sale of investment properties - 56,353
Others 70,754 69,267
70,754 125620

34 General, administration and other operating expenses
2015 2014
AEDDN AED0OD
Staff costs 2,713,739 2532726
Other general and administration expenses 1,041 658 07 387
Diepreciation 230,959 223004
Donations and charity 36533 32,896
4,052,919 3,696,033
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35 MNet impairment charge

2015 24
AED000 AED000
Collective provision for loans and advances 503,282 574,433
Spedfic provision for loans and advances 1,476,162 1,152454
Write back of provisions for loans and advances {685,050 (411,158)
Recovery of loan loss provisions (378,847 (473,901}
Write-off of impaised financial assets 4,707 43,635
Recovery of loans previously written off 141,594) (6,627)

(Write back) / impairment of
- pther financial assets 11 3603
- non financial assets 4,300 (14,42
242 971 868,127

36 Overseas income tax expense

In addition to adjustments relating fo deferred taxation, the charge for the year is caloulated based upen the
adjusted net profit for the year at rates of tax applicable in respective overseas locations,

The charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year was as follows:

2015 2014

AEDD00 AED'000

Charge for the year 308,956 271,10
Adjustrments relating to deferred taxation {10,813) 579
298,143 271,638

Reconciliation of Group's tax on profit based on acommbing and profit as per the tax laws i5 as follows:

2015 2014
AED¥ 00D AEDDO0
Profit before taxation’ 1,144,973 1,016,862
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the
respective countries 277 435 245,925
Tax affects of:
- Income not subject bo tax (3,918) (65,951)
- Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 13,619 27,838
- Utilisation of previcusly unrecognised tax losses (358) (1,333)
- Effect of tax offsets not recognised as deferred fax assets - {2,804
- Deductble temporary difference now recognised as E
deferred tax assets [ )
= Adjustment pertaining to prior years 6,793 11,524
- Withholding tax net of benefits 6,564 =
Total tax charge 208,143 271,648

I Profit before taxation amount consisls ofonly those entitics that are under faxable jurisdictions,
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37 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following
amounts maturing within three months of the date of the acquisition / placement:

2ms 2014
AEDYDOO AEDD00
Cash and balances with central banks 72,190,756 51,166,206
Due from banks and finandal institutions 2.748,176 2960720
Cash and cash equivalents 74,938,932 54,126,926
38 Commitments and conlingencies

2015 2014
AED¥DOD AED000
Letters of credit 49,145,032 56,212,240
Letters of guarantee 67,300,403 64,839,308
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 26,790,338 22 100,064
Financial guarantees 905,631 1,021,799
147,231,404 144,183 411

Capital and operating lease commitments:
- Commitments for futuee capital expenditure 43,147 158,794
- Commitments for huture operating lease payments 205,082 114,117
248,220 273916
Total commitments and contingencies 147,479,653 144 457 327

Credit risk characteristics of these unfinded faclities closely resemble the funded facilities as described
in note 4,
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38 Commitments and contingencies (continued)

Letters of credit and guarantee commit the Group to make payments on behalf of customers contingent upon
the production of documents or the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.

Commitments to extend credit represent confractual commitments to extend loans and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fived expiration dates or other termination clanses and may require a payment of
a fee, Since commitments may expire without being drawn upen, the total contracted amounts do not
necessanly represent fufure cash requirements.

Commitments for operating lease payments are payable as follows:

2015 2014

AEDD00 AED000

Less than one year 68 516 37A
Between one and five year 100,791 61,566
Maore than five year 3B/ 875 15,087
Total commitments 205,082 114,117

Financial guarantee contracts incdudes credit default agreements entered with banks and financial institutions
amounting to AED 496 million (2074: AED 606 milfion) which are primarily denominated in US Dollars.

Conrcernfration by industry:
Financial guarantee contracts mainly pertain to the banks and firancial institutions,

Concenfration by locafion:

Undrawn loan Conmmitments Financial guarantees
205 2004 15 2014
AED¥D0D AED 000 AED D0 AEDD0D
UAE 14,478,228 12,352,565 - -
Europe 5,955,360 1845477 - -
Arab countries 3,513,468 2962213 2123 2199
Armericas 2,990,131 2353289 626,208 552,110
Asia 2,074,032 2,124,435 367,300 477 490
Others 779,119 462,085 < =
29,790,338 22,100,064 005,631 1,031,799
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39 Derivative financial instruments

In the ordinary course of business the Group enfers info various fypes of transactions that invoelve dervative
financial instruments. Derivatives are finandal instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying
items such as equities, bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities and equity or other
indices. Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market msks. Derivative
financial instruments include forwards, futures, swaps and options, These transactions are primarily entered
with Banks and financial institutions.

Fovirards and futures

Curency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign andfor domestic currendies, induding non-
deliverable spot transachons (ie the fransacHon is net seftled). Forward rate agreements are mdividually
negotated inferest rate futures that call for a cash settlement at a fubure date for the difference between a
cortracted rate of interest and the cureent market rate, based on a notional principal amount Foreign curnency
and inferest rate futures are confractual obligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in
cumrency rates or interest rates, or fo buy or sell foreign currency or a finandal instrument on a future date at a
specified price, established in an organised financial market. The credit risk for Ritures condracts is negligible, as
they are collateralised by cash or marketable securities, and charges in the futures’ contract vahe are settled
daily with the exchange.

S

Cur::'::_r,r and interest rate swaps are cormmitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps resulf
in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a
combination of all these {Le., cross - currency interest rate swaps). Mo exchange of principal takes place, except
for certain cross currency swaps. The Group's oredit risk represents the potential loss if counterparties fail to
fulfil their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongeing basis with reference to the cwmrent fair value,
notonal amount of the contracts and the Hquidity of the market. To condrol the level of credit dsk taken, the
Group assesses counterpartes using the same techrdques as for its lending activides.

tios
g;tims are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but
net the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a
specific amount of a financial instrument at a predetermined price. The seller receives a premium from the
purchaser in consideration for the assumption of risk. Optons may be either exchange - fraded or negotiated
between the Bank and a customer over the counter (OTC).

Deerivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price quotations in an active market. Where
there is no active market for an instrument, fair vahie is derived from prices for the derivative’s components
using appropriate pricing or valuation models like counterparty prices or valuation techniques such as
discounted cash flows, market prices, yield curves and other reference market data,

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative finandial instruments, which are
equivalent to their fair vahtes, together with the nobomal amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The
notional amount i3 the amount of a derivative’s underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which
changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notonal amounts indicate the volume of fransactions
ouifstanding at year end and are neither indicative of the market dsk nor credit tsk,
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39 Derivative financial instruments {continned)

The positive / negative fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gain / loss respectively, arising on fair
valuation of the trading and hedging instrument. These amounis are nol indicafive of any current or future
losses, as a similar positive / negative amount has been adjusted to the carrving value of the hedged loans and
advances, non-trading investments, ferm borrowings and subordinated notes.

As at December 31, 2015, the Group received cash collateral of AED 1,220418 thousand (2014: AED 661,805
thousand) against positive fair value of derivative assets from cerfain counterparbies. Correspondingly, the
Group placed cash collateral of AED 7,946,698 thousand (2014: AED 7,160,295 thousand against the negative faie
value of derivative abilities,

Derivative related credit risk:

This 15 himifed to the positive fair value of instrurments that are favourable to the Group. These fransachons are
primarily entered with banks and financial institutions.

Derivatives held for trading

The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relaionship, to manage its exposure to
foreign currency, interest raie and credit risks or indtiates positions with the expectation of profiting from
favourable movement in prces, rates or indices. The instruments used mainly include inferest rate and
currency swaps and forward contracts. The fair values of those derivatives are shown in the table above.

Drerivatives held as fair value hedge

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes as part of its asset and liability
management Strategy by taking offsetting positions in order fo reduce its own exposure to flichuations in
excharge and interest rates. The Group uses interest rate swaps, to hedge aganst the changes in fair value
arising from spedfically identified interest bearing assets such as loans and advances, non-trading investments,
term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency
swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency risks,

Detivatives held as cash flow hedge
The Group uses forward confracts to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from its financial instruments, The
Group has substantially matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hedge relationship.

40 Related parties

Identity af related partics

Parties are considerad to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party i making financial or operational deasions. Related parties comprise major
shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group. Key management personnel comprise of
those executive committee members “EXCO” of the Group who are involved in the strategic planning ard
decision making of the Group. The terms of these transacions with related parties are approved by the Group’s
management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors or management.

Parenit and wltimate controlling party

Pursuant fo the provisions of Law Mo, 16 of 2006, Abu Dhabi Investment Council (the "Council”) was
established which holds 69.92% (201 4: 69.96%) of the issued share capital of the Bank.

Druring the year, a coupon payment elechon of AED 1289 mallion {2074: AED 1875 million) was made by the

Bank in relation to the AED 4,000 million (2674 AED £ 0060 miflion) Government of Abu Dhabi Tier 1 capital
nobes.
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40  Related parties (confinued)

Compensation of directors amnd key management persomel

2015 2014
AEDD00 AEDD00

Key management compensation
Short term employment benefits 90,356 73,475
Post employment benefits 2,058 200
Temmination benefits 1563 1.524
Share based payments 13,240 8224
Directors’ remuneration 6,689 707

Terms and conditions

Loans and deposits are granted and accepted in varous currency denominations and for various fime perads.
Interest rates eamed on such loans and advances extended to related parties during the year have ranged from
-0.05% to 8.25% per annum (2014 G.05% fo 10.75% per annum) and interest rates incurred on Customer accounts
and other deposits placed by related parties during the year have ranged from nil o 4.50% per anmum {203 4: red
fir 38000 per anrtart).

Collaterals against lending to related partes range from being nil to fully secure.

D e gy, @5
management Total Total

A.E‘.D'ﬂm AEDDD0 AEDD00 AEDDOD AEL¥ (00
Balances with related parties al the reporting date are shoion below:

Financial assets 1,042,518 6861860 50005000 66930360  TLETOS7E
Financial liabilities 353,004 4545923 45779356 50679183 90,133,577
Contingent liabilities 130,131 5703758 17,124,831 22058720 43,540,431

Transactions carried out during the year with related partics are shown below:

Interest income 34,548 502,991 1,611,574 2,149,113 2,197 903
Interest expense 234 286,730 155,104 442,068 421,050
Fee and commission income 2,224 3116 80,251 B5.501 75407

Oiers comprise Government of Al Dhabid entities,

Mo allowances for impairment have been recognised against loans and advances extended to related partes or
contingent liabilities isswed in favour of related parties during the year (2024: AED nid).
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41 Segmental information

The new operating structure adopted mid last year has been developed consisting of three key Business
segments across Geographic segments that are driving the business strategy, customer value proposifions,
products and channel development and customer relationships in addition to supporting the delivery of the
Group's financial performance. The structure is simplified and is coherent with its mission of being core to its
chesen customers.

Business segments

s Global Wholesale
Global Wholesale comprises of Global Banking and Global Markets, The business provides corporate,
wholesale and investment chents with strategic advice and bespoke innavative sohutions catering for their
different needs. Global Banking Division offers an array of financial services ranging from relationship
lending and financing, syndication, corporate finance, spedalised financing, structured finance, leasing,
securities services, transactonal banking, merdhant banking, debt capital market services and spedal asset
advisory. Global Markets Division covers hnes of business in relabon to institutional and corporate
coverage, risk solubions, repos management and invesiments, commodities, E-commerce and foreign

exchange trading.

*  Global Wealth
Global Wealth enfolds high net worth individuals and other dients with sophisticated investment needs.
The business furnishes varety of producs related to private banking, assets management incliding local
and global funds as well as discreionary portfolios management, custody, brokerage, business
development and tailored wealth solutions (such as trust & estate planning, finandal planning, segregated
mandates, struchured lending, real estate and private equity investments).

o Glohal Retail ared Commercial
The Global Retail and Commercial (“GRC") targets the vetail and commerdal customer segments together
with their associated operations and administeation. The GRC is struchured on the basis of the differing
needs of the Group's broad customer base covering Mass, affhrent, commmercial and [slamic Banking.

*  Head Office
The Group provides cenfralized human resources, information technolagy, finance, investor relations, rsk

management, corporate comemumdcations, property, legal, infernal audif, compliance, procurement,
treasury operations and administrative support to all of its businesses units.

&7
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
41 Segmental information (continued)
Geographic segments

The Group will be managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries amnd
representative offices within the three defined geographic segments which are UAE, Gulf and Intemational.

« LAE
MBAD local network is currently available in all the seven emirates constituting the Unifted Arab Emdrafes,

L
NBAD presence in the Gulf region is run through its branches in Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman; the segment
iz extended to indude Jordan.

+  International
MBAD intemational network is carded out via its operational presence in Brazil, China, Egypt. France,
Hong Kong, India, Lebanon, Libya, Malaysia, Sudan, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United
States of America,

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as described in notes 2 and 3, Transactions
between segments, and between branches within a segment, are conducted at estimated market rates or
rates agreed by management. Interest is cdharged or credited to branches and business segments either at
contracted or pool rates, both of which approvimate the replacement cost of funds.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is induded below. Performance is measured
based on segment profit before taxation, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed
by the Group's Chief Executive. Segment prafit is used to measure performance as management believes
that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other
entities that operate within these industries.

88
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

42 Earnings per share

Earrings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year after deduction of Tier 1 capital notes
payment by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as set out below:

015 2014

Basic earnings per share:
Net profit for the year (AELDY000) 5,231,817 5,578,869
Less: payment on Tier 1capital notes (AEDYO00} (201,187 (187 495}
Met profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AEDD00) 5,050,630 5391374
Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Ordinary shares as at 1 January of the year (000} 4,723,172 4280470
Effect of borus shanes issued during 20015 (000} 472,492 472492
Effect of bonvus shares issued during 2014 ('000) = 428212
Waighted average number of shares exercised under

the share options scheme (000} 2,163 8.173
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ('000) 5,197 827 5185247
Basic earnings per share (AED) 0.97 1.0
Diluted eamings per share:
Met profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AEDY000) 5,050,630 5391374
Add: interest on convertible notes (AELY000) 45,541 44,547
Met profit for the year for calculating dihuted earnings

per share (AEDY000) 5,076,171 5435921
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (000} 5,107,527 5189 M7
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares issued (7000 117,655 117,655
Weighted average number of dilutive shares under

share options scheme ("000) 5,226 11,244
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for dihted

earmings per share (000} 5,320,708 5315246
Diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.95 Lo

a1
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
43 Fiduciary activities

The Group held assets under management in trust or in a fiduciary capacity for its customers at
31 December 2015 amounting to AED 7285 million {2614: AED 8288 million), Furthermore, the Group provides
custodian services for some of its customers,

The underlying assets held in a custodial or fiducary capacity are exclhuded from these consolidated finanedal
statements of the Group.

44 Special Purpose Entities

The Group has created Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) with defined oljectives to carry on fund management
and investment achivities on behalf of customers. The equity and mvestments managed by the SPEs are not
controlled by the Group and the Group does not oblain benefits from the SPEs’ operations, apart from
comimissions and fee income. In additen, the Group doees not provide any guarantees or assume any labilibes
of these entities. Consequently, the SPEs" assets, liabilities and resulls of operations are not included in these
consolidated financal staternents of the Group. The SPEs are as follows:

Country of Holding,
Legal name Activities incorporation 2015
Ome share PLC Investment Company Republic of Ireland 100%
MBAD Private Equity 1 Fund Management Caymnarn [sland 3Bk
WBAD (Caymian) Limnited Furnd Management Cayman Island 100%

45 Comparative figures

Cerfain cornparative figures have been reclassified where approprate to conform to the presentation and
aocounting policy changes adopted in these consolidated financial staterments. These are as stated below:

Dhuring the year, the Group revisited the basis of allocation around centrally held profit & losses and other inter-
segmental allocations resulting in a restatement of comparative segrmental information.

268/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)
oOoOooodn

2016 UAE
First Gulf Bank PJSC FGB
FGB

FGB

UAE IFRS

IFRS

@

IFRS

269/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)

OoOoOoOoOodno

@

1AS 19
€))

IFRS 10

IFRS 10

@

(V)

©

SPE
( ) SPE
IFRS

®

1AS 36

IAS 39

270/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)

OoOoOoOoOodno
®
1AS 39
€))
@
@
()
©
(6
IAS 39 @)
1AS 37
(b)IAS 18
@)

IAS 39

271/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)
oOoOooodn

@
(b)
®
)]
IAS 39
@)

(®)

272/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)
oOoOooodn

©)

273/280



EDINETOOOO
OoooDo0ooDoooooooooo0oo0oooo0Dbo00DO000bOO00o0Do000DO000DOo00LDOo00oo00bDoo0oOo(Ee2s742)
oOoOooodn

2011 12 31 2012 12 31 2013 12 31 2014 12 31 2015 12 31

23.28 23.61 28.67 33.07 34.20

20.65 20.75 23.70 27.49 31.64

21.70 21.73 26.59 28.84 32.96

20.94 23.61 28.67 32.58 32.74

2015 12 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016
33.59 32.98 32.94 31.04 30.43 30.25
32.74 31.84 30.52 30.33 28.95 28.97
33.10 32.21 31.22 30.75 29.83 29.67
28.58 2016 23

UFJ
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Independent Auditors Report

The Shareholder
National Bank of Abu Dhabi PJSC

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Abu Dhabi PISC and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2015, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and their preparation in compliance with applicable
provisions of the UAE Federa Law No.2 of 2015, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financia statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financia statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statementsin order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated

financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Further, asrequired by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:
i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

ii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federa Law No. (2) of 2015;
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iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv) the financia information included in the Chairman's report, in so far asit relates to these consolidated financial
statements, is consistent with the books of account of the Group;

V) investments in shares are included in note 8 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements and include
purchases and investments made by the Group during the year ended 31December2015;

vi) note 40 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the terms
under which they were conducted;

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which causes us
to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December 2015 any of the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) 0f2015 or in respect of the Bank and its Articles of Association,
which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2015; and

viii) note 34 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the socia contributions made during the year.

Further, as required by the UAE Union Law No (10) of 1980, as amended, we report that we have obtained al the
information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit.

ISSKPMG
Munther Dajani
Registered Auditor Number: 268 27 January 2016

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
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